
 

Contact:   Josie Lloyd  
Tel:   01270 686466 
E-Mail:          josie.lloyd@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

Corporate Parenting Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Date: Tuesday, 10th January, 2023 

Time: 2.00 pm 

Venue: Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, Middlewich Road, 
Sandbach CW11 1HZ 

 
The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and in the report. 
 
It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East Council decision-making meetings 
are audio recorded and the recordings are uploaded to the Council’s website. 
 
PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence   

 
2.   Declarations of Interest   

 
To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests in any item on the agenda. 
 

3.   Minutes of Previous meeting  (Pages 3 - 6) 
 
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 1 November 2022. 
 

4.   Update from Shadow Committee (Verbal)   
 
To receive a verbal update on the Corporate Parenting Shadow Committee. 
 

5.   Corporate Parenting Committee Name Change  (Pages 7 - 10) 
 
To receive the report recommending a name change for the Corporate Parenting 
Committee. 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



6.   Adoption Counts -  Adoption Service Annual Report and Adoption Panel 
Chairs Six-monthly Report  (Pages 11 - 52) 
 
To receive the Adoption Service annual report and the Adoption Panel six-monthly 
report. 
 

7.   Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2021-22  (Pages 53 - 64) 
 
To receive the Independent Reviewing Officer’s annual report for 2021-22. 
 

8.   Corporate Parenting Q2 Scorecard 2022/23  (Pages 65 - 74) 
 
To consider the performance for Corporate Parenting for quarter 2 of 2022-23. 
 

 
Membership:  Councillors Q Abel, M Asquith, R Bailey, J Barber, J Buckley, C Bulman, 
P Butterill, K Flavell (Chair), S Handley, S Holland, D Jefferay and J Saunders (Vice-Chair) 
 
 



 

OFFICIAL 

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Committee 
held on Tuesday, 1st November, 2022 in the Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, 

Middlewich Road, Sandbach CW11 1HZ 
 

PRESENT 
 
Councillor K Flavell (Chair) 
 
Councillors M Asquith, R Bailey, J Buckley, C Bulman, P Butterill, S Handley, 
S Holland, D Jefferay and M Beanland 
 
OFFICERS PRESENT 
 
Deborah Woodcock, Executive Director of Children’s Services 
Kerry Birtles, Director of Children’s Social Care 
Georgie Fletcher, Deputy Virtual School Headteacher 
Annemarie Parker, Head of Service: Cared for Children and Care Leavers 
Jenny Foulkes, Children’s Society 
Annie Britton, Lead Participation Worker - Youth Support Service  
Angela Murney, Participation Worker – Youth Support Service 
Josie Lloyd, Democratic Services 
 
ALSO PRESENT 
 
Callum and Crystal on behalf of My Voice (Shadow Committee) 

 
 

48 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies were received from Councillor Abel and Councillor Saunders. Councillor 
Beanland attended as a substitute.  
 

49 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest.  
 

50 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
It was requested that the minutes of the previous meeting be amended to include 
Councillor Handley’s apologies and to correct a typographical error under the Care 
Leavers Service Annual Report. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 6 September 2022 be agreed as a correct 
record, subject to the above amendments.  
 
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



 

OFFICIAL 

51 UPDATE FROM SHADOW COMMITTEE (VERBAL)  
 
Callum and Crystal, on behalf of the shadow committee My Voice, attended the 
meeting as part of a committee takeover for Children’s Rights Month to speak on 
issues that were important to care experienced young people. These included: 
 

 Having consistent support in place 

 Having a safe and secure home to live in and ensuring communication 
throughout any moves  

 Continuing to have their voices heard and have the opportunity to work with 
officers and elected members 

 
The Chair advised that the Shadow Committee meet monthly and members of the 
Corporate Parenting Committee were welcome to attend.  
 

52 CARE LEAVER SURVEY AND CARED FOR CHILDREN SURVEY REPORT  
 
The committee received the report which shared recommendations and actions from 
cared for children and care leavers following surveys and focus groups from October 
2021 to September 2022. 
 
Communication was a key concern and was largely down to staff shortages. Improving 
communication was to be prioritised. The mobile application was continuing to be 
explored although there was a significant cost attached to app development. Cheshire 
East had approached neighbouring Manchester authorities to enquire about being part 
of an app that they had developed. 
 
It was noted that the action plan was a working document to be updated as feedback 
was received.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted.  
 

53 CHILDREN'S RIGHTS ANNUAL REPORT  
 
The committee received the report which provided an update on how the Children’s 
Society has delivered the Independent Visiting Service for Cheshire East over the 
year, as well as an overview of the work undertaken from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 
2022. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4



 

OFFICIAL 

54 VIRTUAL SCHOOL FOR CARED FOR CHILDREN HEAD TEACHER'S ANNUAL 
REPORT 2021-22  
 
The committee received the report which gave an overview of the operation and 
impact of the virtual school during 2021-22. 
 
The report included details of the universities being attended by cared for young 
people and which courses they were studying. A request was made for future reports 
to include a similar breakdown for apprenticeships.  
 
A further request was made for future reports to include data on the progress and 
performance of cared for young people at university which could provide an 
opportunity to celebrate their achievements.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted.  
 

55 CORPORATE PARENTING SCORECARD QUARTER 1  
 
The committee received the Corporate Parenting scorecard for quarter 1 of 2022 – 
2023.  
 
A request was made for the scorecard to include percentages or RAG rating going 
forward. It was agreed that officers would look at bringing the Corporate Parenting 
scorecard in line with the format of the Children and Families scorecard which would 
provide this and ensure consistency. 
 
The committee thanked the young people who had attended the meeting. A 
suggestion was made to ask members of the shadow committee how often they would 
like to attend and what time they would want the meetings to take place. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted.  
 
 
 

The meeting commenced at 10:00 and concluded at 12:00 
 

Councillor K Flavell (Chair) 
 

 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

Corporate Parenting Committee 
 
Date of Meeting: 

 
10 January 2023 

 
Report Title: 

 
Corporate Parenting Committee Name Change 

 
Report of: 

 
Deborah Woodcock – Executive Director Children’s 
Services 

 
Ward(s) Affected: 
 

 
All 

 

1. Purpose of Report 

1.1. The purpose of this report is to recommend a name change for the 

Corporate Parenting Committee. This change of name is proposed to reflect 

the wishes of cared for children and care leavers who have asked for 

professionals to simplify the language that is used when working with them 

or making decisions about them. 

 

1.2. By listening to the wishes and feelings of our care leavers we will ensure 

that Cheshire East is “a great place to be young”. It is also a great 

opportunity for Cheshire East Council to be “an open and enabling 

organisation” and for decision makers to demonstrate their commitment to 

listen, learn and respond to our young people by having a “two-way 

conversation” as stated in the council’s Corporate Plan. 

 

1.3. By supporting cared for children and care leavers to share their views freely 

and be taken seriously, Cheshire East Council and partners uphold their 

responsibility of being duty bearers of children’s rights.  

 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 From October to November 2022 the Participation Team worked with cared 

for children and care leavers to explore the option to change the name of 

Corporate Parenting Committee. The report summarises the feedback and 

Page 7 Agenda Item 5



 

OFFICIAL 

recommendations from cared for children and care leavers. Feedback was 

captured during an activity day and at the My VOICE (Voices of in Care 

Experience) group. By giving our cared for children and care leavers the 

opportunity to shape Corporate Parenting Committee, it means that we uphold 

the Corporate Parenting Principles e.g. to encourage children and young 

people to express their views, wishes and feelings. 

 

3. Recommendations 

3.1. Cared for children and care leavers have asked that Corporate Parenting 

Committee change their name to:  

- Cared for Children and Care Leaver Committee 

Once Committee members have agreed on the name change the 

Participation Team will communicate the decision back to cared for children 

and care leavers in a format that is accessible.   

4. Reasons for Recommendations 

4.1. Professionals use a lot of jargon, and there is lots of terminology that 

children and young people don’t understand. Children and young people 

have told us that they don’t understand the term Corporate Parenting and 

that it sounds clinical. After discussions with cared for children and care 

leavers it was decided to change the name of the strategy to “Cared for 

Children and Care Leaver Strategy”. Now that the Cared for Children and 

Care Leaver Strategy has changed its name, it opens the door for 

Corporate Parenting Committee to adapt the same language throughout the 

governance structure to ensure continuity. 

4.2. Simplifying the language we use when communicating with cared for 

children and care leavers will ensure that services and support are inclusive 

and accessible.  

5. Other Options Considered 

5.1.  

Option Impact Risk 

Change name of 
Corporate Parenting 
Operational Group 

Consistent language 
with the strategy 

None, however, it 
could take some time 
for the language to 
change amongst 
professionals  

 

6. Background 

6.1. Ref 1.4 in the Cared for Children and Care Leaver Strategy states: 

“Continue to work with cared for children and care leavers to change the 

Page 8



 

OFFICIAL 

language we use” and ref 1.9 states: “We will change the name of our 

Corporate Parenting Committee to reflect children and young people’s 

wishes regarding the language we use”. By changing the name of the 

committee, we will do what we said we would do to support and listen to our 

cared for children and care leavers. This also links to Pledge 6 of the 

strategy which states: “We will work TOGETHER with Children and Young 

People”. 

7. Consultation and Engagement 

7.1. In October and November 2022 around 15 cared for children and care 

leavers worked with the Participation Team to discuss different options for 

changing the name of Corporate Parenting Committee.  

7.2. Legal 

7.2.1. No implications 

7.3. Finance 

7.3.1. No implications 

7.4. Children and Young People/Cared for Children 

7.4.1. The committee has oversight of support and services for cared for 

children and care leavers, the name change of the committee 

implications. Changing the name of the committee will reflect the focus 

on simplifying the language in the strategy. It holds Cheshire East 

Council and partners accountable for their actions and responsibilities for 

cared for children and care leavers and has measurable outcomes.  

 

Access to Information 
 

Contact Officer: Annie Britton Lead Participation Worker 
Annie.britton@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
07890321844 

Appendices:  

Background Papers: Cared for Children and Care Leaver Strategy 2022-26 

  

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

Corporate Parenting Committee 
 
Date of Meeting: 

 
10 January 2023 

 
Report Title: 

 
Adoption Counts- Adoption Service Annual Report and 
Adoption Panel Chairs’ six-monthly report 

 
Report of: 

 
Deborah Woodcock – Executive Director – Children’s 
Services 

 
Ward(s) Affected: 
 

 
All 

 

1. Executive Summary 

1.1. These reports outline the delivery of adoption services and outcomes for 

children. They relate to pledge 3 of the Corporate Parenting Strategy: ‘We will 

work to achieve permanence and keep children safe’. The reports highlight 

that there have been positive outcomes and work in Cheshire East between 

April 2021– March 2022 for children with a plan of adoption. There are two 

reports: 

1.2. The Adoption Counts Adoption Service Annual Report – this report 
outlines the delivery of adoption services by the Regional Adoption Agency 
(RAA) during the period from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022. This report fulfils 
the obligations in Adoption National Minimum Standards (2011) and Adoption 
Service Statutory Guidance (2011) Adoption and Children Act 2002 to report 
to the “executive side” of the local authority (LA).  

1.3. This report sets out the number of children made subject to: 

 Should be Placed for Adoption (SHOBPA) Decisions 

 Placement Orders 

 change of plans 

 placed for adoption 

 adopted, during the period.   

The report also details the range of adoption support services provided. 

1.4. The report also provides detail on recruitment and marketing activity during 
the period as well as training delivery.  

Page 11 Agenda Item 6



 

OFFICIAL 

1.5. The Adoptions Panel Chairs’ Six Monthly Report – this report outlines the 
operation of the adoption panel over the period 1 October 2021 – 31 March 
2022, including panel membership, panel member appraisal, annual panel 
training, cases considered and timescales, quality of reports and feedback 
from attendees.  

1.6. This report is written by the Independent Panel chairs and provides 
recommendations to improve the operation of panel and therefore outcomes 
for children and the experience of panel attendees.  

2. Recommendations 

2.1. The Corporate Parenting Committee is recommended to: 

 Note the contents of the Adoption Counts Adoption Service annual 

report, and the Adoption Panel Chairs’ six monthly report.  

 Provide support and challenge in respect of the reports 

 

3. Reasons for Recommendations 

3.1. The Corporate Parenting Committee is an advisory group to the Children and 

Families Committee and, as such, needs to be aware of any national or local 

issues that are likely to impact on cared for children and care leavers. 

3.2. The Corporate Parenting Committee needs to be able to scrutinise and 

challenge performance to improve outcomes for cared for children and young 

people and care leavers. 

4. Other Options Considered 

4.1. None, this is an update report.  

 

5. Background 

5.1. Adoption Counts has responsibility to discharge Cheshire East’s 

responsibilities as an Adoption Agency. The working relationship between the 

local authority and the Regional Adoption Agency (RAA) has been 

fundamental to the success so far of the partnership working and has been 

embedded at all levels. 

5.2. The Adoption Service annual report highlights there have been positive 

outcomes for children and productive work in Cheshire East between April 

2021– March 2022 for children with a plan of adoption.  

 

5.3. The performance data evidences that children have been matched, placed, 

and adopted in a timely manner with a number of children joining their 

permanent families within or under the recommended thresholds.  17 children 

were placed during the period with 9 children within the A2 threshold.  The A2 

measure is the average time between a local authority receiving court 

authority to place a child and deciding on a match to an adoptive family, for 

children who have been adopted. The average A2 measure for these 9 

children is 89 days.  This is an excellent outcome as a number of children 

Page 12



 

OFFICIAL 

have been able to gain stability and permanence by joining a family who can 

meet their needs with minimum delay and at the earliest point possible.  

Research indicates that such early and decisive action is needed, as delays in 

the process can reduce children’s chances of finding a permanent family and 

increase the chance of adoption breakdown.  

 

 

5.4. Robust systems are in place to identify the children who are likely to wait 

longer.  We are aware from the performance data that children of black and 

ethnic minority heritage, large sibling groups and older children can wait 

longer to achieve permanence.  In line with this we are focussing on recruiting 

black and ethnic minority adopters and providing a comprehensive training 

programme to prospective adopters to widen matching criteria.  We also 

joined other regional adoption agencies in the northwest to hold a profiling 

event for children of black and ethnic minority heritage. 

 

5.5. The family finding progress of all children continues to be scrutinised at 

monthly tracking meetings with an established strategic matching process.  

This enables oversight of all potential matching decisions, time limited 

searches and decisions to ensure children who are likely to wait longer are 

prioritised and there is no drift. 

5.6. We continue to receive a high number of enquiries from prospective adopters 

and approved 87 families in total this year, compared with 104 last year.  We 

consider this to be extremely positive within a national picture where there is 

an ongoing shortage of adopters.  This has ensured we continue to have a 

greater pool of prospective adopters available, all of whom have been 

assessed as having the skills needed to meet the needs of vulnerable children 

requiring permanence. More children are placed in house with adopters 

approved by Adoption Counts.  100% of children were placed with in house 

adopters and are therefore placed within the Northwest with easily accessible 

adoption support.   

 

6. Consultation and Engagement 

6.1. The Adoptions Panel Chairs’ six-monthly report outlines the feedback 

received from panel attendees on the operation of the panel. This has 

informed the recommendations.  

 

7. Implications 

7.1. Legal 

7.1.1. This report fulfils the obligations in Adoption National Minimum Standards 

(2011) and Adoption Service Statutory Guidance (2011) Adoption and 

Children Act 2002 to report to the “executive side” of the Local Authority 

(LA). 

 

Page 13



 

OFFICIAL 

7.1.2. Legal advice will be sought, as appropriate, upon all relevant emerging 

issues. 

 

 

7.2. Finance 

7.2.1. There are no direct financial implications of this report. 

7.3. Policy 

7.3.1. Cheshire East is ambitious and committed to ensuring it is a great place to 

be young. This is demonstrated through the Council’s core priorities that we 

are a council which empowers and cares about people. These priorities are 

supported and driven through the Children and Young People’s Plan and 

the Health and Wellbeing Strategic Plan. Our Corporate Parenting Strategy 

has a clear vision that our cared for children and care leavers are safe, 

happy, healthy and achieve their full potential. 

7.4. Equality 

7.4.1. Cared for children and care leavers can be a vulnerable group because of 

their experiences. 

7.5. Human Resources 

7.5.1. Changes to working arrangements as a result of the pandemic are outlined 

in the reports.  

 

7.6. Risk Management 

7.6.1. Cared for children and care leavers are a vulnerable group that are at risk 

of a number of factors, including poor education and training, health, 

safeguarding and transition into adulthood; the Corporate Parenting 

Strategy prioritises these areas. Adoption Support services offers support 

to families to enable them to stay together.  

 

7.7. Rural Communities 

7.7.1. All communities are affected by the contents of this report and it is 

necessary to strategically plan the delivery of services to serve all 

communities. 

7.8. Children and Young People/Cared for Children 

7.8.1. The contents of this report have implications for cared for children and care 

leavers, who are some of Cheshire East’s most vulnerable children, which 

are outlined fully in the reports. 

7.9. Public Health 

7.9.1. The impact of Covid-19 is well documented within this report. 

7.10. Climate Change 

Page 14



 

OFFICIAL 

7.10.1. There are no climate change implications within the reports.  

 

Access to Information 
 

Contact Officer: Nicola Booth Operations Manager 
Nicola.booth@adoptioncounts.org.uk 
 
Kristen Roberts Operations Manager 
Kristen.roberts@adoptioncounts.org.uk 
 

Appendices: Adoption Counts Adoption Service Annual Report 2021-22 
Adoption Panel Chairs’ Six Monthly Report October 2021- 
March 2022 

Background Papers: None 

  

 

Page 15

mailto:Nicola.booth@adoptioncounts.org.uk
mailto:Kristen.roberts@adoptioncounts.org.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cheshire East Council  

 

Adoption Service – Annual Report  

1 April 2021 – 31 March 2022 

 

  

.  

 

 

 

 

  

Page 17



Page 2 of 35 

1. Introduction and Purpose of the Report 

This report fulfils the obligations in Adoption National Minimum Standards (2011) and 

Adoption Service Statutory Guidance (2011) Adoption and Children Act 2002 to report 

to the “executive side” of the local authority. This has guided the structure and 

information set out in the report below. 

 

It is important to note that data and information within this report is accurate as of 31 

March 2022. Plans for children are dynamic and develop every day and the picture will 

have changed at the point that this report is read. 

 

2. Working with Cheshire East Council  

Since going live, Adoption Counts has had responsibility to discharge Cheshire East’s 

responsibilities as an Adoption Agency. The working relationship between the LA and 

the Regional Adoption Agency (RAA) has been fundamental to the success so far of 

the partnership working and has been embedded at all levels. The Director of 

Children’s Social Care sits as a member of the Adoption Counts Board.  The Head of 

Service with a link to adoption is invited to attend the quarterly operations group 

meetings.  These provide an important opportunity for operational issues to be raised 

and shared with equivalent managers from the other partner LAs and with the senior 

managers in the RAA. There is a shared ownership of the agenda and a range of 

issues are discussed with very positive communication and outcomes as a result.  

The Operations Manager linked to Cheshire East is in regular contact with the Head of 

Service linked to adoption to discuss performance over the period and any issues or 

themes that may be arising.  This is very much a two-way dialogue, with Cheshire East 

ensuring that the RAA is fulfilling its responsibilities as well as the RAA being able to 

offer feedback to the LA about any emerging themes or issues in care planning or 

working together.   

The Head of Service for Cared for Children and Care Leavers, the Head of Service for 

CIN/CP and the Service Manager for Cared for Children attend the monthly Adoption 

Counts tracking meetings and are active participants. The tracking meetings are an 

opportunity for scrutiny and performance management following the whole cohort of 

Cheshire East children where there is or may be a plan of adoption including: 

 Children now adopted to ensure that life story books and later life letters are 

received.  

 Children placed for adoption but not yet adopted to track the progress of 

placements and the timeliness of adoption order applications. 

 Children where a family has been identified to ensure that there is no avoidable 

delay in the shortlisting and matching process and throughout the planning of 

introductions and placement. 

Page 18



Page 3 of 35 

 Children subject to a Placement Order where a family has not yet been identified. 

This cohort is rigorously discussed to ensure that the family finding strategy is 

being carried out effectively and is the forum for escalation of agreements 

regarding family finding within the RAA, other LAs or in the voluntary sector.   

 Children in care proceedings where there may be a plan of adoption as their final 

care plan. These children are tracked closely both in the LA and the RAA to 

ensure that there is timely progression of the plan from Agency Decision that they 

Should Be Placed for Adoption, through profiling and the identification of a family. 

 Children under the Public Law Outline where there may be a plan of adoption 

should care proceedings be initiated. 

 Children requiring legal revocation of placement orders and “Should be placed 

for adoption” rescinds. 

 

We are currently tracking 75 children upon our tracker, during this period of time we 

have tracked between 73 – 85 children each month.  There is no doubt that the 

efficacy of these meetings is improved when care planning representatives from the 

local authority (LA) attend as this ensures a robust joint approach. This is evidenced 

by the fact that at the start of this period we were tracking 8 children where the 

adoption order had been granted but later in life letters and life story books were 

outstanding.  From the discussions held within the tracking meeting, workers were 

identified to complete these within a set timescale, at the end of this period, later in 

life letters and life story books have been completed for 6 of these children.  

outstanding.   

The team manager in the RAA linked to Cheshire East also attends the monthly 

tracking meetings and she, alongside the three dedicated Family Finders, regularly 

work in Cheshire East office bases alongside the social work teams, attend legal 

gateway meetings and final care planning meetings to provide advice and a view 

where required. Links between Cheshire East and the RAA seem to be embedded 

well. 

 
3. Performance 

3.1 Children made Subject to Should be Placed for Adoption (SHOBPA) 

decisions 

Number of children made subject to SHOBPA decisions per month 

Cheshire East April May June July August Sept  

 1 0 1 2 1 3  

 Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb March Total 

 0 1 2 1 0 1 13 

 

Page 19



Page 4 of 35 

All thirteen of the children made subject to a SHOBPA decision within this period are 

the subject of Court proceedings and had the decision made following all other 

options having been ruled out or discounted by the LA.    

3.2 Children subject to Placement Orders 

Number of children made subject to Placement Orders per month 

Cheshire East April May June July August Sept  

 2 2 0 0 0 2  

 Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb March Total 

 2 2 2 0 1 0 13 

 

Out of the thirteen Placement Orders granted within the period: 

 Ten children have subsequently been placed for adoption, with the court granting 

the adoption order for two of the children during this period.  Nine of the children 

were matched below the A2 threshold of 121 days (the average time between a 

LA receiving court authority to place a child and the LA deciding on a match to an 

adoptive family).  The remaining child was matched 7 days outside of the threshold. 

 The placement orders for the remaining three children have been granted towards 

the end of the period, all three are all linked to prospective adopters and it is 

expected they will be matched within the four month threshold. 

 There are no children for whom a placement order has been granted within the last 

year yet to be matched.   

 

The number of both SHOBPA’s and Placement Orders within this period have 

decreased slightly in comparison to data from last year. (15 children with a SHOBPA 

decision and 13 children with a Placement Order) 

3.3 The Number of Children who had a Change of Plan in the Period 

There have been six children who have had a change of plan in this period.   

A four year old child who remained in the care of the foster carers under an 

SGO.  SHOBPA rescind agreed 27.7.21.  

A sibling group aged 8, 7 and 6 years whose care plan changed to one of long term 

fostering.  SHOBPA rescind agreed 16.6.21.  

A four year old child who was rehabilitated home to the care of his birth 

family.  SHOBPA rescind agreed 2.9.21.  

A seven year old child who had a change of plan to long term fostering. SHOBPA 

rescind agreed 2.3.22. 

Page 20



Page 5 of 35 

For the children who have had a change of plan, one has successfully been 

rehabilitated home to either the care of their parents or a relative which is a good 

outcome for this child.    

In terms of identifying patterns, the remaining children are aged 4 years or over and / 

or part of a sibling group and therefore are children who are likely to wait longer in 

achieving permanence through adoption.  A twin tracking approach was therefore in 

place for some of these children with an agreed time limited adoption search. 

3.4 Number of Children Placed for Adoption during period.  

Number of children placed for adoption per month 

Cheshire East April May June July August Sept  

 0 1 1 1 2 4  

 Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb March Total 

 0 2 1 0 1 4 17 

 

100% of the children placed for adoption were placed with prospective adopters 

approved by Adoption counts.   

There were seventeen children placed for adoption during this period.  The A10 

measure for this cohort of children is 657 days and the A2 measure is 199 days.  

Fourteen of the children were placed outside of the A10 measure (average time 

between a child entering care and moving in with adoptive family)  It is worth noting 

that COVID-19 has had an impact upon general court timetabling with care 

proceedings for the majority of the children taking longer.  This therefore has had an 

effect upon the overall A10 timescales.    

Nine out of the fourteen children were placed within the A2 measure, timeliness for 

these nine children is excellent with an A2 average of 89 days.  During this period we 

also placed three children identified as having very complex health and developmental 

needs.  One of the children had also been matched with prospective adopters within 

timescales but unfortunately, during introductions due to personal circumstances the 

prospective adopters made the decision not to continue.  Their A2 measures were 462, 

501 and 506 respectively which impacted upon the overall family finding timescales. 

   

3.5 Number of children adopted 

Number of children made subject to Adoption Orders per month 

Cheshire East April May June July August Sept  

 1 0 2 1 1 0  

 Oct  Nov Dec Jan Feb March Total 

 4 0 2 2 0 1 14 

Page 21



Page 6 of 35 

For this cohort, the average number of days for A10 is 656 days, which is over the 

threshold of 426 days.  There are ten children outside of the threshold.   

The children outside of the threshold are as follows: 

 A 5 year old who was adopted by foster carers.  This impacted on the timescales 

as the foster carers needed to be assessed as prospective adopters and could 

not be matched until the assessment was completed.  The A10 measure was 

566 days. 

 

 A 3 year old where care proceedings were delayed due to covid on several 

occasions – a measure of 506 days. 

 

 A 3 year old with a measure of 655 days, experienced delayed care proceedings 

due to delays in the completion of a psychiatric assessment for parents and 

request for independent assessments of family members late in the 

proceedings.  

 

 A 5 year old where care proceedings were delayed due to psychological 

assessments being directed by the court of parents.  The A10 measure was 651 

days. 

 

 A 4 year old with complex health needs who was placed with her father which 

unfortunately was not successful, later returning to foster carer.  The A10 

measure was 1207 days. 

 

 A sibling pair aged 5 and 7 years with complex emotional needs due to 

experience of significant neglect.  The final hearing was delayed due to receipt 

of medical reports.  The A10 measure was 864 days. 

 

 A 5 year old who was adopted by foster carers.  The A10 measure was 667 

days. 

 

 A 1 year old whose proceedings were delayed due to assessment of extended 

family members.  The A10 measure was 552 days. 

 

 A 5 year old with global developmental delay whose proceedings were delayed 

due to a number of assessments.  The A10 measure was 1405 days. 

There were four children placed within the A10 threshold, the average number of days 

for this cohort of children is 311.  

For A2, the average number of days for this cohort is 212 days which is over the 

threshold of 121 days.   

Page 22



Page 7 of 35 

Seven of the children had a decision made about their match with their adoptive 

families within the threshold.  The A2 average for these children was 92 days.   

The seven children placed outside of the are the children detailed above.  Their A2 

measures are: 266, 132, 525, 413, 413, 380 and 189 respectively.     

As can be seen from the above information, despite robust family finding it has taken 

longer to achieve permanence for a higher number of children during this period.  This 

is for several reasons, care proceedings for a number of the children have taken longer.  

We have seen an increase in the number of birth parents applying for leave to contest 

placements orders and in family members coming forward to be assessed at a later 

stage in proceedings.  A number of the children also had very complex needs, were 

older in terms of adoption or were part of a sibling group.  In order to achieve good 

outcomes for these children, it was important to ensure families were found who had 

the understanding, skills and capacity to meet their long term needs.  For these children 

timeliness needs to be balanced against achieving the right outcome.  It is extremely 

positive that permanence through adoption has been achieved for each child.  It is 

important to state whilst overall timeliness has been affected by the length of time it 

has taken to place these children, the majority of children with less complex needs 

have been placed and adopted well within recommended thresholds and a good 

outcome has been achieved for all children placed for adoption within this period. 

The numbers of children placed and adopted in this period is lower than numbers from 

the same period last year, 21 children were placed and 24 children adopted 1.4.20 - 

31.3.21.  However, it is important to note that this is an expected decrease, as is in line 

with the numbers of children who have had a plan of adoption over the past two 

years.    

This is also in line with the national picture, a decrease of 18% was seen in 2020 -21, 

this is likely to be connected to the no order principle, rise in special guardianship 

orders alongside general delay in court timetabling and care proceedings as a result 

of COVID-19.  

The numbers of children will continue to be monitored to ensure opportunities to secure 

legal permanence for children via adoption are considered as and when appropriate 

3.6 Early Permanency  

One child has been placed in an early permanence placement during this period with 

fostering for adoption carers, temporarily approved by Cheshire East’s Agency 

Decision Maker as foster carers under regulation 25A of the Care Planning Regulations 

on 22.9.21. 

4. Quality of Reports   

 
CPRs (child permanence reports) are audited as routine by the relevant Adoption 

Counts Team Manager prior to SHOBPA consideration and then again by either the 

Page 23



Page 8 of 35 

Team Manager, Family Finder or Senior Practitioner before matching panel. This is 

to ensure that CPRs are graded as being ‘Good’ as a minimum and that the final 

report is submitted to panel rather than reports still requiring amendments. The CPR 

is then graded by the panel considering the match. 

 

Eighteen child permanence reports (CPR’s) audits have been completed during this 

period. Of those: 

 

Rating Outstanding Good Satisfactory In Need of 
Improvement 

Total 

SHOBPA 1 8 0 8 18* 

Panel 1 12 3 2 18 

*1 CPR was not given a grading 

 

CPR reports presented to adoption panel consider gradings at the child’s match, as 

opposed to the gradings prior to matching panel from the team Managers. This was 

due to, on occasion, there being a discrepancy between an auditor’s grading 

compared to that of panel. The figures presented above are based on panel gradings, 

given their independence and impartiality. 

 

Support and training is offered to support children’s social workers in completing 

children’s CPR’s. This includes specific training that can be delivered to teams, one 

to one support with social workers and advice with a robust quality assurance 

system with the ADM and Panel Adviser to SHOBPA. As can be seen by the figures 

above, the improvement of children’s CPR’s from SHOBPA to Adoption Panel is 

significant, with increased focus on achieving good quality CPR’s for SHOBPA 

should see these gradings improve over the next 6 months. 

 

Recruitment of Adopters  
 

5.1 Approvals 
 
There were 48 families approved as adopters during the first six months of this year 
(1.4.21 – 30.9.21) and 39 families approved as adopters during the last six months of 
this year 1.10.21 – 31.3.22) 87 families approved in total.  This is a decrease of 17 
families from the year before when 104 families were approved.      
 
At the end of the period (31st March 2022) there were 40 families in Stage One, 11 in 

between Stage One and Stage Two, and 35 in Stage Two; a total of 86 families in the 

assessment process.  There were 88 families in the assessment process at the end of 

last year so this evidences the level of business is maintained at a relatively consistent 

level.  This is positive and is a strong position from which to enter the new year.      

 
Enquiry numbers have significantly increased with 593 in first 6 months of year and 

835 during second half of the year, 1428 for the full year.  This is 454 more than the 

Page 24



Page 9 of 35 

previous year where there were 974 enquiries in total.  This is the largest number of 

enquiries we have ever seen and is significantly higher than usual.  From the 

feedback we have collated, the increase in enquiries seems to be due to our social 

media campaigns alongside the messages from the #YouCanAdopt campaigns.  It is 

worth noting that a high percentage of the enquiries are just asking for information 

packs and not proceeding with an assessment, this could indicate that they are not 

yet ready to proceed but are exploring adoption earlier than they perhaps would have 

in the past.  

 

Source  Enquiries  

Online   643 

Local Council referral / website  58 

Social Media  67 

Recommendation from friend / 
relative  11 

Other  11 

Outdoor Advertising  3 

Event /info Stand  1 

Radio  4 

Second Time Adopters  7 

Previous Adoption Enquiry  30 
 

Numbers of initial visits have decreased, with 96 taking place in the first 6 months of 

the year, 77 during the last six months, so 173 in total.  This is a decrease of 41 from 

the previous year (2020 – 21) when 215 initial visits took place and 181 in the year 

2019 – 20.    This is a decrease of 41 from the previous year. In line with this, we 

undertook a consultation to restructure our recruitment and assessment service to 

assist in allocation of work within timescales at the enquiry stage.  From February 2022 

we have changed our structure to incorporate an initial visit team with identified social 

workers completing all initial visits.  We will continue to review the effectiveness of this.  

It is also worth noting that as the number of applications in progress at the end of year 

is very similar to that of previous year, the decrease in initial visits does not seem to 

have had a negative impact on the number of applications received since then. 

Registrations of Interest received (the formal application to be assessed as prospective 

adopters) have also decreased, 59 in first 6 months, 64 in second part of the year, 123 

Page 25



Page 10 of 35 

in total from 150 the previous year (2020 – 21). It is possible this decrease could be 

influenced by the gradual lifting of the Covid restrictions i.e. people taking holidays, 

travelling, weddings, building work, IVF, etc.  

 

Our performance should still be viewed in the context of an ongoing national shortage 

of adopters. It suggests that the strategies implemented through our Recruitment and 

Marketing plan continue to be effective in terms of our adopter sufficiency, although of 

course we are not complacent and continue to strive to increase our numbers further. 

We will continue to raise the profile of our agency to achieve adopter sufficiency for 

our children across our five local authorities, with a surplus to generate income and 

offset the cost of inter-agency placements for our children who need them.  

 

Monthly Adopter Sufficiency meetings continue with the Head of Service, the 

Operations Managers, the Recruitment and Enquiries Manager and the Marketing 

Officer meeting to plan and review our progress. 

 

5.2 Referrals to the Independent Review Mechanism (IRM) 
  
No referrals were made to the IRM during this period.  
 
5.3 Partner/step-parent adoption enquiries  
  
Our Recruitment Team received 43 partner / step-parent adoption enquiries in the first 

six months of the year and 47 in the second half of the year, 90 enquiries in total.  This 

is a significantly higher number than the previous year when 48 enquiries were 

received in total.   

 

Whilst this may seem a big increase, pre-covid, 43 enquiries would have been an 

average number of enquiries for a 6 month period. It is likely the figures decreased last 

year due to the pandemic and national lockdown. 

 

 1.4.21 – 30.9.21 1.10.21 – 31.3.22 

LA  Number  Percentage  Number  Percentage  

Cheshire East  13 30% 12 25% 

Manchester  4 9% 8 17% 

Salford  10 23% 4 9% 

Stockport  2 5% 5 11% 

Trafford  6 14% 2 4% 

Unknown/other 8 19% 16 34% 

Total  43 100%  47 100% 

 

Thirteen enquiries resulted in an office meeting taking place with a social worker, for 

information gathering and advice, in the first six months of the year.  Fifteen enquiries 

resulted in an office meeting taking place in the second half of the year.  28 office 

Page 26



Page 11 of 35 

meetings took place in total.  This is more than double the amount during the 

previous year (12), again following the same pattern as noted with the enquiries due 

to the pandemic and lockdown.  

 1.4.21 – 30.9.21 1.10.21 – 31.3.22 

LA  Number  Percentage  Number  Percentage  

Cheshire East  3 23% 4 27% 

Manchester  3 23% 4 27% 

Salford  2 15% 4 27% 

Stockport  4 31% 1 6% 

Trafford  1 8% 2 13% 

Total  13 100%  15 100% 

 

Three applications were accepted during the first six months of the year, nine in the 

second six months, twelve in total.    

 

 1.4.21 – 30.9.21 1.10.21 – 31.3.22 

LA  Number  Percentage  Number  Percentage  

Cheshire East  1 33.3% 3 34% 

Manchester  1 33.3% 2 22% 

Salford  
  

1 11% 

Stockport  1 33.3% 2 22% 

Trafford  
  

1 11% 

Total  3 100%  9 100% 

 
5.4 Information events 
 
Before the pandemic, these were held on a fortnightly basis at locations around the 
region. Since then, these events have been held ‘virtually’ on a weekly basis, where 
potential adopters watch from their own homes, without the need to be in close 
proximity of other people, and without the need to travel.  
 
These have continued to be very successful indeed and we have continued to run 
these virtually with the potential for one a month in a venue for those families who 
would prefer that face to face connection.  
 
5.5 Training groups  
 
During the last 12 months, 3 day ‘virtual’ adopter preparation training groups have 
been held on a monthly basis, with additional tasks/modules being given to 
applicants to do in the evenings. 
 
114 families attended these groups during this period, with 57 attending the first half 
of the year and the same number 57, in the second half of the year.  
 

Page 27



Page 12 of 35 

It is difficult to compare this to the previous year, due to the training during those 
periods being delivered by separate modules which the applicants did in their own 
time, then discussed with their social worker.  In the year prior to that though (2019-
20) 115 families attended. 
 
Regular reviews of how the training is delivered have taken place and in line with the 
ending of covid19 restrictions a decision has been taken to re-start face-to-face 
preparation training in April 2022.   
 
5.6 Marketing and Recruitment Campaigns 
 
Our marketing activity increased during this period, compared with the previous year, 
in line with some lockdown and pandemic restrictions being eased. We continued 
with a high presence of digital and social media advertising, and also re-commenced 
our outdoor advertising (billboards, etc.), the Taxi skin, radio advertising, magazines 
specifically for certain communities/locations, leaflet drops, etc. 
 
We also commissioned the Manchester Evening News. This has been very 
successful as not only was there targeted Facebook advertising, but there was also a 
high additional digital presence, adverts in the print editions of the paper, and we 
have two advertorials to use, hopefully using case studies of our own adopters.  
 
The aim of the targeted Facebook advertising was to specifically reach out for 
members of the Black Community to come forward and think about adoption. This led 
to a noticeable increase in enquiries, as mentioned earlier. It did not result in an 
increase in people attending the information events, as many of those enquiries were 
at the very early stages of thinking about adoption, but it is hoped those enquirers will 
come back to us due to them now having our information.  
 
The national #YouCanAdopt ‘Black Adopters Campaign’ took place this Summer, 
and the website and social media hashtag #YouCanAdopt was used widely. The aim 
was to raise awareness of adoption and bust myths around who is eligible to adopt; 
ultimately to increase the number of possible parents from the Black Community 
registering their interest in adoption. As we know, Black children traditionally wait 
longer to be matched with a new adoptive family, as well as older children, sibling 
groups, and those with complex health needs or disabilities.  
 
Part of this campaign was the commission of Street Ambassadors; who went out in 
the community to raise awareness, address concerns and busy myths.  
 
Additional marketing was booked for National Adoption Week, which took place for 

12th – 18th October 2021. We ran our own advertising during the entire campaign 

period, to go alongside the national campaign, using the same message, content and 

useful podcasts, aiming to make Adoption Counts stand out amongst our competitors 

and drive applicants to our website. 

 
 
 
 

Page 28



Page 13 of 35 

6 Compliments, comments and complaints  

Description - compliments  

Feedback from an adopter who said how supportive and professional her supervising 
social worker had been. The adopter wanted to thank the supervising social worker 
for all her support, help, advice and friendliness throughout their adoption journey. 
 

Feedback given by a prospective adopter who had contacted the agency to enquire 
about adoption. The prospective adopter said how the member of staff from the 
recruitment team had put them at ease and they appreciated her sensitivity when 
discussing difficult subjects.  
 

Feedback given by an adopter regarding a family support worker in our adoption 
support service.  The adopter stated: adoption is quite a journey and having people 
like yourself along the way make it so much easier. 
You have been the only constant contact in the whole process for us from start to 
finish and that has meant so much to us. 
 

Feedback from an adopter regarding the letterbox support they had received.  They 
advised this had been excellent and throughout the years the indirect contacts with 
their daughter’s birth family have always been sensitively dealt with in a timely and 
insightful way. 
 

Feedback given by an adopter regarding their supervising social worker.  They 
stated their social worker has shared her knowledge and insight at every step, had 
been professional and yet caring and honest when necessary. 
 

Description - complaints 

A complaint from an adopter who had experienced an adoption disruption. The 
adopter expressed unhappiness regarding the levels of support and contact from the 
agency following the disruption. The complaint was not upheld. 
 

A complaint from an adopter following a recommendation from the agency that the 
adopter was no longer suitable to adopt. The adopter raised concerns about the 
annual review process followed by the agency and the levels of contact maintained. 
The complaint was partially upheld. 
  

A complaint from an adopter who wanted to know why the letterbox service for her 
daughter had not been reviewed. The complaint was not upheld. 

A query was received from a enquirer’s MP regarding the housing circumstances of 
an enquirer wishing to proceed with an adoption application.  The query was 
answered and an initial visit completed. 
 

A complaint from a birth parent who stated she was not receiving letters from her 
children. The complaint was not upheld. 

 

Page 29



Page 14 of 35 

 

7. Practice Developments in Adoption Counts  

Family Finding  

In order to support the priority of achieving permanence in a timely way for our 

children of black ethnicity we have worked in partnership with other regional adoption 

agencies across England and have taken part within a national Family Finding 

Profiling Event held over the weekend 22-25 October 2021. We profiled children of 

Black African/Caribbean heritage and mixed Black African/Caribbean heritage at this 

event.  

We are as a service developing interactive profiles we can use for our children who 

are likely to wait longer.  The interactive profiles will enable us to ‘bring children to 

life’ using a range of video clips, photographs and voice recordings from those who 

know the child best i.e., foster carers and social workers to provide an in-depth 

description of the child.   

Following feedback from our partner LA’s, we have also formed a working group who 

have developed an early permanence training package which will be delivered to our 

LA colleagues to enhance awareness and understanding regarding early 

permanence options for children. This has now been finalised and training is 

available to all colleagues as required.  General adoption training alongside early 

permanence training and training for foster carers regarding transitions has been 

offered / delivered to teams. 

We have continued to hold adoption picnics and have profiled children using a range 

of video clips. Adopters can access these video clips of children for a limited period via 

a secure Adoption Counts website on our SharePoint site. During this period we have 

held three picnics, 35 children were featured with 86 households attending resulting in 

41 expressions of interest. Three matches resulted from these events for a sibling pair, 

a sibling group of three and a six year old.  All children are now placed. 

Recruitment and Assessment  

We have six staff who are currently taking part in Adult Attachment style interview 

(ASI) training.  One is an Operations Manager, one Team Manager and four social 

workers. We aim to have the social workers accredited in the training and begin to 

offer ASI interviews for some of our families in assessment from July / August 

2022.  The attachment style interview is a model of practice that that offers a 

conversational style interview which questions adoptive applicants about their current 

relationships with their partner (if a couple), family of origin and with two adults close 

to the applicants. The interview looks at general styles of relating to other adults in 

terms of self-reliance and how easy it will be for them to get close and be at ease in 

accessing help. This will be a clear indicator of how as adoptive parents they will 

Page 30



Page 15 of 35 

reach out for support during the parenting of a child or young person through 

adoption. 

As an organisation Adoption Counts are committed to embedding the Black Lives 

Matters ethos and challenge to ourselves within our work in the Recruitment and 

Assessment of adopters who can truly meet and understand the needs of children who 

are from a black or minority ethnic heritage. The black lives matters training has been 

accessed by all our staff and Adoption Panel members. This is  shaping our delivery of 

service with prospective adopters and the matching of children as service Social 

workers are showing more confidence in evidencing the learning in the curious and 

open questions in the PARs (Prospective Adopters Reports) in the assessment and 

analysis of adopters being able to thoroughly explore their true understanding of 

diversity and the impact in parenting their child or children. This is not just for adopters 

wishing to adopt a child from a different ethnicity than their own but in raising adopters 

awareness of race and cultural issues for both them and their children throughout life.  

We are as a service developing Interactive profiles for approved adopters as we are 

doing with children, which will allow the adopters to talk about their skills and abilities 

in offering a child permanence through adoption, what they can offer as a family. 

The Preparation Training is delivered face to face by our social workers within the 

Recruitment and Assessment teams. We are currently reviewing the content of the 

training to cover all aspects of the adoption journey for the child, birth parents and 

adopters including adoption support as a priority for ongoing support throughout the 

years.  

We have re-organised the teams in the Recruitment and Assessment to focus on Initial 

visits. This piece of work was undertaken in relation to addressing allocation  

timescales and meeting the needs of prospective adopters. 

We will monitor closely timescales on Stage 1 and Stage 2 assessments if by 

separating out initial visits. 

In relation to contact in adoption we focus on ‘open’ adoptions as a starting point for 

children with their birth family. Messages from research tell us how we can weave in 

the prospect for children being able to retain contact with their families if in their best 

interest. 

At present as a management team we are looking to develop a first stage system  in 

relation to matching children to adopters who can meet their needs at an early stage 

by the use of data held on the system  by using the children’s matching criteria in 

relation to their individual needs  against adopters skills and abilities. 

Nicola Booth 

Operations Manager 

20.6.2022 

 

Page 31



Page 16 of 35 

 
 
 

Adoption Support 

 

Adoption Service – 6 monthly & Annual 

Report 

01.04.2021 – 31.03.2022 

  

Page 32



Page 17 of 35 

Adoption Support 

Adoption Support remains integral to our delivery for adopted children, new adoptive families, 

birth families and adopted adults, recognizing the life-long journey of adoption. We remain 

committed to supporting children and their new families from the early transition stages of a 

placement through to the making of an Adoption Order. Thereafter we recognize that new 

challenges may emerge requiring varying levels of tailored support to ensure successful 

outcomes for children. We have based our service delivery on a graduated approach, with our 

Adoption Psychology Service forming the foundation of our delivery. 

 

In this past six months we have continued to deliver Adoption Support on a hybrid model, using 

virtual meetings and offering in-person visits and meeting as required. There has been some 

impact on the team from Covid-19 with periods of staff sickness. 

 
Adoption Psychology Service 
 
SERVICE OVERVIEW 

The short-term funding for this service has been agreed by the board until March 2023, with 

negotiations with Clinical Commissioners to secure longer term funding on a joint basis moving 

forward. This process continues to be underway with our Greater Manchester and Cheshire 

East NHS commissioning colleagues. 

This service was initially funded by the Centre of Excellence funding, which has since ended. 

The APS service has been mentioned in the Government publication Adoption Strategy 

Achieving Excellence Everywhere (July 2021) as an example of best practice. 

The long-term ambition would be to increase the service delivery so that all children, not just 

those under the age of 12, can receive a service from this specialist team. A new element of 

funding has been announced by central government for all RAA’s to bid to develop their own 

Multi-Agency Partnerships so we will seek clarity on whether this is relevant to our 

development plans. 

The Adoption Psychology Team is an assessment, consultation and therapeutic CAMHS 

and Educational Psychology partnership service for adopted children, their parents, carers and 

workers. It is a partnership between Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, 

One Education and Adoption Counts. The service is multidisciplinary including clinical 

psychology, therapeutic social work, child psychiatry, Occupational Therapy and educational 

psychology. The information in this report relates to the CAMHS component of the service. 

The service is partly co-located with Children’s Social Care which enables a co-ordinated 

approach to the mental health and emotional wellbeing and develops the skills of the social 

work teams through consultation, training and joint working. It is consultation and referral-

based and offers timely and flexible appointments, currently mainly delivered virtually but with 

in-person observations and visits to children. The service sits alongside other services that 

support the child’s home, care planning, relationships, health, education and hobbies. The 

iThrive model shows how the Adoption Psychology and Adoption Counts Adoption Support 

Service fit together. 

Page 33



Page 18 of 35 

 

AP Service outcomes 

1.  Adopted children have good mental health 

2.  Adopted children have healthy relationships 

3.  Adopted children have stable placements 

4.  Adopted children and their parents have a positive experience of care and support 
 
Service Aims 
 

 Children who have a Placement Order and an adoption plan are offered, where 
necessary, assessment and intervention to support decision making and make 
recommendations to inform their placement needs. 
 

 Adopted children and families have access to assessment and interventions to improve 
their relationships, emotional and behavioural regulation and engagement with 
learning. 
 

 Children and families placed in their adoptive placement can access group-based 
approaches as part of an early intervention package to enable families to have a good 
start on their adoption journey. 
 

 Children who have been placed in their adoptive placement are able to access 
specialist assessment and intervention up to age 12. 
 

 Adoption social workers, family finders and children’s social workers can access 
Specialist Consultation for adopted children up to the age of 18 for advice and 
signposting. 
 

 Prospective adopters and adoptive parents are offered training, consultation and 
evidence-based interventions to enhance their understanding and management of the 
psychological needs of children who have experienced abuse and neglect. 
 

 Adoption Social Workers are offered training and consultation to enhance their 
understanding, assessment skills and knowledge of attachment, mental health 
difficulties and interventions 

Page 34



Page 19 of 35 

In October 21 to March 22, the Adoption Psychology team delivered: 

 Evening workshop for parents about school transitions and education advice, and 

parenting understanding the neuro-sequential model 

 Foundations for Attachment group – one (virtually) and another planned for January was 

rescheduled to take place in April. The course reached 10 parents, 8 children 

 Theraplay informed parenting group – four groups took place, offering parent sessions 

followed by sessions jointly with children and their parents, in person reaching 28 children 

 Training (CPD) for Adoption Counts social workers 

 Consultations for transitions (21) and long-term work for professionals (46) 

 9 specialist assessments and 11 psychiatric assessments 

 39 direct referrals for support for children and their families 

Further figures for the number of children receiving services, breakdown of LA, gender, school 

needs and so on are provided within the Adoption Psychology annual report, 2021-22. This 

can be read alongside this report to provide more detail. 

Specialist Assessments were for children whose needs were highly complex, with a multi-

agency approach using Education Psychology, Clinical Psychology, Psychiatry, and specialist 

OT services to assess and recommend the relevant support for children and their parents. This 

is a very limited service due to the available time, so we have targeted children whose complex 

needs are not likely to be met within an assessment delivered by an external provider. Costs 

for this work were claimed through the ASF, along with costs for sensory attachment packages 

of support. 

Consultations continue to be a central part of the APS offer. Consultations are offered on a 

fortnightly basis for social workers, for Adoption Support, Family Finding and Recruitment and 

Assessment, and can include the LA social worker responsible for the child. These 

consultations offer advice on transitions into adoptive placements for children, especially those 

likely to have higher need, such as sibling groups, later placed children, or those with more 

significant trauma history. The transitions screening tool and supporting documents have been 

well received and used by workers. There has also been offered a telephone line to consider 

more urgent or quicker queries which can be swiftly discussed with the APS team. 

The Multi Agency Resource Panel, continues to consider complex cases that require 
Adoption Support Fund (ASF) match funding from the Local Authority. This has enabled more 
consistent and transparent decision making across the region. The panel consists of 
representative multi-agency representatives from education, health and CAMHS backgrounds, 
which enables professional challenge and support to make the best use of resources in our 
agency. 
 
 
Adoption Support Fund Applications 
 
We have continued to access the ASF to provide additional therapy for adoptive families using 
the Adoption Counts portal, this has enabled families to receive specialist support that we 
would not have been able to provide in house or access from other universal services. 
There were 329 applications to the ASF in the 6 months between October and March 2022. 
The total value of the claims were £740,249, of which £65,216 was for specialist assessments. 
 

Page 35



Page 20 of 35 

LA’s contributes £16,756 matched funding to “top up” the ASF fair access limit of £5000 per 
child. 
 

LA 

Number of 

applications Amount 

Applications 

with Match 

Funding 

Amount of 

matched 

funding 

Cheshire East 68 £220,615 3 £2,716 

Manchester 57 £189,189 3 £7,154 

Salford 15 £43,217 0  

Stockport 54 £170,064 3 £6,886 

Trafford 32 £88,574 0  

Group Application 4 £28,590 0  

Totals 230 £740,250 9 £16,756 

 
 
The Adoption Support Fund was renewed in February 2022. The delay in announcing this so 
late caused concern among providers and families, who were awaiting the opportunity to 
continue therapy. This has also caused a considerable increase in applications coming in 
between March-April and resulting in processing delays, in both our social work and business 
support teams, with workers completing an increased number of applications during this short 
period. 
 
Comparison to previous 6 months and annual overview: 

LA Number of 

applications 

Amount Applications 

with Match 

Funding 

Cheshire East 83 £286,203.51 1 for £3014.38 

Manchester 56 £179,253.33 0 

Salford 
23 £85,061.25 

2 totalling 

£3890.50 

Stockport 
50 £168,690.00 

3 totalling 

£11,215.34 

Trafford 
43 £202,069.00 

3 totalling 

£28,460.00 

Group 

Application 
1 £10,860.00 0 

Totals 256 £932,137.09 £46,580.22 

 
 
Total 456 applications in April 2021- March 2022, drawing down a total of £1,672,387.09 to 
support adoptive families in our region, and those we support who live across England. 
 
Referrals / Enquiries for Adoption Support 
 
The team currently hold 853 open cases. This is reduced from 960, with 34 of those closed 

being Access to Records. 

These cases are: 

465 (previous measure 553) adopted children with an allocated long-term social worker 

Page 36



Page 21 of 35 

185 (previous measure was 181) adopted children with an allocated First Response social 

worker 

203 (previous quarter was 226) adults being supported to access their adoption records 

Within these numbers: 

72 (previous measure 38) children (some pre-adoption) have a Therapeutic Social Worker, 

this increase is reflected in the secondment to the post of a second therapeutic social worker, 

thereby doubling capacity 

39 children (previous measure 40 children) allocated to our Education Advisor. 

 Adoption 
Support 

First 
Response 

Access to 
Records 

Total 

Cheshire East 118 52 29 199 

Manchester 91 44 88               223 

Salford 45 12 23 80 

Stockport 84 39 34 157 

Trafford 92 30 12 134 

Unallocated to 
an LA 

35 8 17 60 

Total 465 185 203 853 

 

Active Adoption Support Caseloads by Local Authority 

There has been a slight decrease in the number of families allocated to a social worker within 

Adoption Support. We have continued with our drive to close cases when possible and move 

families on to access universal services, and this has been a welcome change after the rising 

demand in the last two years. There will always be a core of families who require more long-

term support, and these numbers continue to be steady. 

We have again been able to reduce the number of open Access to Records cases (by 24), as 

the team are now dealing with applications faster than they are coming in. This reflects the 

positive investment in this team to 1 FTE post. 

During October 2021-March 2022 the First Response team completed 55 adoption support 

assessments for families approaching the service for the first time. All families who have sought 

support have been assessed within 4-10 weeks of them approaching the agency, the time 

period has increased slightly since the last report, but with priority given to families who need 

more urgent assessments. This assessment identified the support families may require, and 

sources and puts in place relevant support, often accessing the ASF to fund this. 

In the year we have completed 126 adoption support assessments for new families 

approaching the service for support. All families who are already allocated a social worker have 

the assessment reviewed every 6 months at minimum, although often this is more frequently 

given changing needs. 

We have adjusted our process which is now that all social workers across Adoption Support 

complete initial “surgeries” for Adoption Support Assessments. This has reduced the pressure 

Page 37



Page 22 of 35 

within First Response and allowed families to start building relationships with their social 

worker from their early contact with the agency. This began in February 2022. 

Social workers continue to support families whose needs range from support with therapeutic 

parenting, sensory and attachment needs, ranging through to those who have highly complex 

needs, who are at risk of CSE, missing from home, violence towards parents, and with complex 

mental health needs and disabilities. Very sadly we also have young people who are on the 

edge of care, or can no longer live with their adoptive parents and return to LA care. Liaison 

with LA services continues to be a challenge at times, with high thresholds for referrals. We 

are working on this area by liaising with local services and planning ways to improve 

communication and understanding between the LA intake workers, and Adoption Counts. 

Examples of this practice are the joint supervision offered within Stockport, and the forum 

within Cheshire East. Both of these are newly-instigated and should they prove beneficial we 

will offer these to our other LA partners. 

The Letterbox team holds all letterbox referrals; the last count has increased substantially to 

1,298 cases (cf. 1053 2020/21). This may reflect the increased focus on good practice within 

LA’s and social work teams to encourage meaningful contact post-adoption for more 

children. The number of cases does not reflect the number of exchanges (for example, one 

family may write to several birth family members who write back, exchanging four or five 

letters twice a year). 

We have chosen to be part of the pilot project called Letter Swap, which will create a digital 

platform for exchange of information from adoptive and birth families. This was planned for 

trial in the Spring but this has been delayed until later in 2022. 

Adopted Adults 
 
Our service to Adopted Adults is seeing improvement in waiting times for those who wish to 
access their adoption records. We created capacity by using hours available from other roles, 
to enable the 1 FTE equivalent (4 workers) who deliver this service across the 5 Local 
Authority areas. We intend to keep this capacity until a further reduction in wait times is seen. 
 
We have again been able to reduce the number of open Access to Records cases by 34. This 
reflects a steady demand of new cases. 
 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Year total 

Cheshire East 10 1 2 4 17 

Manchester 17 10 11 9 47 

Salford 1 7 5 4 17 

Stockport 7 9 1 4 21 

Trafford 3 2 1 0 6 

General 2 6 5 7 20 

Total 40 35 25 28 128 

New Access to Records cases by Local Authority and quarter. Not reflecting older open cases, 

only new cases opened in each quarter. 

New referrals for support 
 
During the period we received 196 new referrals into the Adoption Support Service. These 
mainly come directly from families but some from schools and other social workers. We also 

Page 38



Page 23 of 35 

receive referrals from families moving into our area and those becoming our responsibility 
due to the three year rule. 
 

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Year total 

Cheshire East 10 13 9 19 51 

Manchester 12 11 13 9 45 

Salford 1 3 7 8 19 

Stockport 14 11 16 6 47 

Trafford 7 6 5 2 20 

Unallocated to 
an LA 

2 4 1 7 14 

Total 46 48 51 51 196 

 

New Adoption Support cases by Local Authority and quarter. Not reflecting older open cases, 

only new cases opened in each quarter. 

Analysis 
 
We have received 196 new referrals into the Adoption Support Service (compared to 183 in 
the previous period) showing a steady demand. There has been an increased number of 
Access to Records requests which has been met by the ATR team. 
 
We are currently working with 467 allocated cases (excluding letterbox) which is a reduction 
from 553 from the previous six months. This is a result of the drive to close “dormant” cases 
where the worker was not actively involved plus reflecting the ability now for families to accept 
ending of work, now the pressure of the pandemic is reduced. 

This reduction has enabled us to manage several additional areas of work: 

- The renewal of the ASF fund, which resulted in high numbers of ASF applications 
processed by social workers and business support 

- The restarting of evening workshops 

The steady numbers of cases held within First Response demonstrates continued demand 
but there is a challenge in moving cases on to the long term team when the family requires 
higher levels of support and intervention. This is why we have changed the process to have 
all social workers across the Adoption Support team offer “surgeries”. 

The Adoption Psychology team show a steady demand for their service and increased use of 
the transitions consultations. Letterbox demand remains steady and consistent across all 
areas, in numbers of cases, with a rising number of requests for support where there has 
been unplanned contact between adopted young people and their birth families. There has 
also been increased requests for support with planned direct contact, which reflects the drive 
within Adoption Counts to implement good practice and research around the benefits of 
contact for adopted young people. 

Adoption Support Social Workers continue to hold high caseloads, with an average of 45 cases 

per FTE. The high level of need could be for a number of reasons, including; 

- Families seeking support earlier 

- Greater knowledge among adoptive families about the support available, promoted 

within the preparation groups 

- Families requiring interventions that take longer and are multi-part, with perhaps two or 

more interventions identified 

Page 39



Page 24 of 35 

- Greater understanding of early trauma from workers and families, which takes a long 

time to support and heal 

The team are a resilient and committed group of workers, who have worked hard to meet the 

needs of all adopted children in this period. At the last Board meeting an additional 2.5 workers 

were agreed (for one year) to enhance the adoption support offer and these are being recruited 

to currently, although we have not been able to identify candidates on our first round of 

recruitment. 

The Operations and Adoption Support managers are focussing on how to support workers and 

how to reduce demand on staff who report feeling under stress, especially within First 

Response and the letterbox service. 

Process 

The first response model remains in place , to encourage better screening of calls and 

redirecting to universal services where appropriate . If a call is clearly adoption specific then 

advice ,support and counselling can be offered via telephone and may be all that is required. 

 

If it becomes clear from discussion that there is a need to gather more detailed information 

then the family will be invited into a surgery appointment to conduct an Adoption Support 

Assessment. This could also be offered when a family requests a financial assessment or 

renewal of an adoption support allowance. 

 

Of the referrals into the service for both Adoptive families 100% of adoptive families requiring 

an assessment / interview have been offered a surgery appointment within a 4-10 week 

timeframe. Some are prioritised if required (for example, edge of care, risk of exclusion, high 

stress in household). 

 

All families can contact the First Response team and speak to a social worker on duty. This is 

available every day, during working hours so they have access to a skilled social worker to 

respond to queries and offer support. 

 

Since boosting the Access to Records service, we now have FTE 1 worker (0.2 of which is 

through an agency worker) supporting adults within all five Local Authority areas. 

This has since proved very beneficial, with adopted adults being able to access their records 

and waiting list being worked through. We now offer a reduced waiting time for those who 

approach the service, at 6-9 months wait and often adults are seen more swiftly (recently 

example of a service offered within 3 months, which includes period of time seeking the records 

and processing the information for the adult to receive). 

The Adoption Support team staffing establishment is as follows - 
 

Team Managers 2.3 FTE  3 staff 

Adoption Support SWs 12 FTE First Response 4.2 
(agency 0.4) 
ATR 1 (agency 0.2) 
Long Term 7.2 FTE 

FSWs 3.7 FTE FSW’s 2.9 FTE 

Page 40



Page 25 of 35 

Senior practitioner 0.8 
FTE 

Therapeutic SW 2 FTE 2 FTE 
1 seconded for 1 year 

 
 
Universal services 

The Adoption Support Team continue to offer access to Adopter Hub and some events as part 

of the “universal services” iThrive model. Adopter Voice have fed back how beneficial the 

Adopter Hub service has been to enable adoptive parents to access high quality, reliable 

information at a time that suits them. We have offered all adopters at every stage access to 

this resource and will continue to promote this at Stage One and onwards. 

The first virtual evening workshop, on supporting children in education, took place in 

September, and was well received by parents and continued through October to March on 

topics such as life story, contact, and the neuro-sequential model (understanding trauma). A 

further training programme for parents is being created for the year ahead, some in person 

and others virtual events. 

Adopter Voice has continued to offer a contact point for adopters who can connect with one 

another, and feed back to the agency about areas of practice, join training events, and 

participate in activities across Adoption Counts. This has offered in person events for new 

parents. Three consultation sessions have taken place seeking feedback for the organisation 

about the child’s voice, and life story work and letterbox. Information from these sessions was 

used to create the evening workshops. 

Birth parent support continues to be commissioned through PAC-UK who offer support to those 

whose children have been removed through adoption, within the first two years. A group for 

birth parents has been developed in our region for parents who have lost children through 

adoption, with the aim of offering mutual support and ultimately supporting adopted children 

with positive contact arrangements. 

 
Letterbox Service 

The Letterbox team are holding all letterbox referrals; at the last count this was 1298 families. 

We were invited to learn about a pilot project run by Linkmaker, who are developing an online 

letterbox service, which will enable families to upload letters and share these securely within 

the online system, having first been screened by Family Support Workers in Adoption Counts. 

This was going to start in Spring 2022 but the start has been delayed to allow for more 

preparation time nationally. 

The Family Support Workers also undertake short pieces of work to assist families with 

adoption related issues, reducing the pressures of SW allocations, and this has started to 

support families awaiting therapeutic input. 

Current number of Letterbox agreements per LA (in brackets are previous number) 

Manchester Salford Stockport Cheshire East Trafford  

392 (305) 342 (277) 264 (250) 147 (186) 145 (120) 

Page 41



Page 26 of 35 

Birth families 

First Family delivered through PAC-UK are our current provider of support to birth families 

following a decision for their child to be adopted . 

The clear and easy referral process is increasing the number of families who access the 

service. PAC-UK provide the annual figures from 2020-21 was 51 parents offered support. We 

are awaiting feedback from this last period. 

Further detailed information is available in the PAC – UK annual report, which can be 

shared on request. 

 Practice Developments in Adoption Counts 

Adoption Support 
 

Adoption Psychology have delivered some on-line training and support for families, and 

recently have returned to a partial face to face group to deliver Theraplay informed support to 

newly placed families with their children. We are awaiting feedback from this. We have also 

returned to evening workshops, with the first being delivered in September 2021. This was well 

received by families and good feedback given about the benefit of the session. 

 

Transitions work has been a focus and documents supporting good transitions, and a training 

event was delivered for the Family Finders and Recruitment and Assessment workers. This 

will support earlier intervention when a child is moving into an adoptive placement and has 

higher support needs or a likely need for more specialist support with (for example) 

relationships and behaviour during the transition. 

 

A review of the MARP process has sought Local Authority decision makers’ agreement to 

move to a process to enable more timely decision making when a child or family require more 

than the ASF £5,000 limit of therapy. 

 
Adoption Psychology 
 
During this period the Adoption Psychology team have maintained their connections with the 

team and families, delivering specialist assessments, consultations, therapeutic input for 

families and training for staff. 

 

Training has taken place for the Adoption Support team, including education and transition, 

use of therapeutic support, and specialist input from a FASD service. Training and reflective 

sessions were also provided by our Educational Psychology service with a focus on school 

support and workers have reported a high level of satisfaction with the specialist training 

offered in the service, offering good CPD and encouraging staff retention who feel valued by 

investment in their skills and knowledge. 

 

Transitions support continues for children moving from their foster care to prospective adoptive 

home. We have created a format to claim for some of this work from the Adoption Support 

Fund. 

 

Page 42



Page 27 of 35 

Systemic Peer Support sessions have been created by the Adoption Support Team managers, 

and therapeutic social worker, and these have been beneficial for workers to receive peer 

support with complex cases and consider alternative hypotheses around intervention and 

support. These were paused in February and March to enable the focus to be on the ASF 

renewals but will be reinstated for the team. A new workers support group has been beneficial 

in enabling several new team members to be mentored by those who have been more 

established, and again this increases confidence and team cohesion as well as staff retention. 

 

Further details available in the Adoption Psychology annual report. 

 
 

Kristen Roberts 

Operations Manager, Adoption Support 

  

Page 43



Page 28 of 35 

Adoption Counts Adoption Panel 

Adoption Panel Chairs 6 monthly report 

(October 2021 to March 2022) 
 
1.  Introduction 
 
This report is a biennial report completed in rotation by the Independent Panel Chairs for 
Adoption Counts. The statistics used in the report and the quotations from the Panel 
feedback process are supplied by the Admin Team and Panel Advisor for Adoption Counts. 
Thanks is expressed for their hard work in bringing the information together. 
 
2. Overview of panels 
 
The temporary arrangements for Panels brought about by the Co-Vid situation continues and 
Panels are still being held virtually They are held every two weeks on Fridays; every three 
weeks on Thursdays; every six weeks on Wednesdays; every six weeks on Tuesdays. This 
pattern of timings is consistent with arrangements pre Co-Vid and the usual locations of 
Panels are used as a reference. 
 
The various locations originally used reflect the geographical areas of the Local Authority 
partners in the adoption work we do and were intended to make for easy attendance of the 
adoptive applicants and the social workers. Although these issues became moot during 
Lockdown arrangements there remains an argument that locally delivered services are still 
important. 
 
There are discussions about moving to a Hybrid arrangement with actual attendance for 
some Panel members with other participants still joining virtually. This will depend on the 
availability of rooms large enough to maintain a level of safe social distancing at the various 
sites previously used for Panels 
 
Panels are usually scheduled for mornings. The ideal is for 3 items per Panel although a 
maximum of 5 cases can be listed. However, because of the additional time taken to deal 
with certain cases care is taken to not list too many items such as Matching cases. 
 
The frequency of panels supports the timeliness of approvals and matches. The timetabling 
of panel items is based on need, and therefore panel will be convened even if there is only 
one item to be presented. There remains the option to arrange additional Panels should it be 
required 
 
3. Panel membership 
 
At the end of the reporting period at the end of March 2022 there were 53 panel members on 
the Central List. The make up is as follows: 
 
3 Panel Chairs, 1 Vice Chair, 18 Local Authority and/or Adoption Counts Social Worker 
representatives, 21 Independent members, 4 Medical Advisors, 2 Elected Members, 2 Local 
Authority members [other than Social Workers] and 2 NHS members. 
 

Page 44



Page 29 of 35 

The 18 Social Workers are ; 11 from Adoption Counts, 2 from Manchester, 4 from Salford 
and 1 from Stockport. Neither Trafford or Cheshire East have Social Worker representation 
as Panel Members. 
 
There are an additional 5 individuals in the process of being considered as new panel 
members. 
 
Adoption Counts panels strive to have panel members from varied backgrounds, life and 
personal experiences and, whilst we have several adoptive parents and adult adopted 
people, it is recognised that it would be very helpful to have a birth parent who has had a 
child adopted. 
 
The attendance and/or availability of Medical Advisors remains an issue on some occasions 
when there are serious or unusual medical conditions to be understood. If there was an issue 
whereby the Medical Advisor’s input would be valued, queries can be sent to them prior to 
panel for advice. On occasion a Medical Advisor can attend at the beginning of Panel to give 
a summary of all cases scheduled that day. This is seen as an acceptable compromise 
 
It has become increasingly difficult to recruit social workers from our 5 Local Authorities and 
we continue to push recruitment in these authorities. It is of particular concern that we don’t 
have any representation from 2 of our partner Local Authorities. 
 
Panel member appraisal 
 
The appraisal process is currently underway. Appraisals will be completed via an electronic 
system, with a third of Panel members invited in for a face to face discussion. The face to 
face meetings may still be completed virtually due to Covid-19. All Panel members are given 
the option to attend their appraisal in via a Teams meeting or to complete them electronically. 
This has been done to ease the pressure on the Panel Advisor and Panel Chairs as previous 
appraisal became very lengthy and protracted given the number of panel members and their 
varied availability for an additional meeting outside of panel times. The next appraisal period 
will begin in September 2022. 
 
Annual panel training 
 
Panel members have opportunities to attend regular training sessions 
 
Panel developmental days are January and June. The rationale for this is to avoid Easter 
holidays and a busy time for the agency, staff and panel members as schools return post 
long summer break in September 
 
Panel Chairs also meet frequently to look at matters of consistency and common 
developmental issues 
 
Adoption Counts have delivered training sessions on the topic of Black Lives Matters and the 
associated issues. There was an expectation that all panel members would attend this. Not 
all Panel Members accessed this training but will be offered the opportunity to attend future 
events as the Black Lives Matter training is continuously being embedded into practice within 
Adoption Counts and will be essential for everyone to attend. 
 
The Panel Member Learning Library is still active and available to all panel members via 
SharePoint. This resource contains a wide variety of learning material such as policy and 
procedure documents, information leaflets, training slides, information re: adoption support; 
recruitment and assessment; and family finding. Panel members are required to keep a 

Page 45



Page 30 of 35 

record of their reading and research which is to be reflected on and discussed during their 
appraisals to ensure continued professional development. 
 
4. Panel Business 
 
Cases considered by panels (October 2021 – March 2022) 
 

Total No. of Panels 24 No. of Approvals 36 

No. of Matches 38 # No of children matched 43/45 ## 

Breakdown by type: Single children 
Sib group of 2 
Sib group of 3 
 

32 
 
4 [5 if double counting] 
1 

# 2 children were matched twice at Panel [K children]. So actually appeared at 38 Panels 
only 43 matched in reality. 
 
 
Data 
 
CPR / PAR 
 
For the above period, 46 CPRs were presented to panel (this included 5 sibling groups of 2 
and 1 sibling group of 3 and also includes SHOBPA) and 36 PARs 
 

RAA data of quality of reports at final audit. All agencies  

Matches (and SHOBPA), 46 CPRs  Approvals, 36 PARs  

Outstanding  3 6.52% Outstanding  1 2.77% 

Good  29 63.04% Good  33  91.66% 

Satisfactory  6 13.04% Satisfactory  0 0% 

In need of 
improvement  

8 17.39% In need of 
improvement  

2 5.55% 

 
SHOBPA: 

CPR Agency specific data per Local Authority- SHOBPA 

Agency Outstanding Good In need of 
improvement 

Inadequate 

Trafford 0 0 2 0 

Stockport 0 5 6 0 

Salford 0 3 7 0 

Manchester 0 5 9 0 

Cheshire East 1 4 4 0 

 

CPR Agency specific data per Local Authority – as a % out of total of reports  

Agency  Outstanding  Good  Satisfactory  In need of 
improvement  

Trafford (2)  0  0  0 2 (4.35%) 

Stockport (11)  0 5 (10.87%)  0 6 (13%) 
  

Salford (10)  0 3 (6.52%) 0 
  

 7 (15.2%) 

Page 46



Page 31 of 35 

Manchester (14)  0 5 (10.87%) 0  9 (19.7%) 

Cheshire 
East (9)  

1 (2.17 %) 
  

4 (8.7%)  0 4 (8.7%) 

 
5. Panel scrutiny – timescales  
Matches 

A1 met 16 cases 37% 

A1 not met 27 cases 63% 

A2 met 28 cases 65% 

A2 not met 15 cases 35% 

 
Breakdown by LA 

LA No of 
children 

A1 met A1 not met A2 met A2 not met 

Cheshire East 9 2 [22%] 7 [78%] 7 [78%] 2 [22%] 

Manchester 14 4 [29%] 10 [71%] 4 [29%] 10 [71%] 

Salford 9 3 [33%] 6 [67%] 7 [78%] 2 [22%] 

Stockport 9 6 [67%] 3 [33%] 8 [89%] 1 [11%] 

Trafford 2 1 [50%] 1 [50%] 2 [100%]  

 
Approvals 
 
Of the 78 Adoptive families that were in S1 in the six months (this excludes those that left the 
process during S1 in the period): 

 5 were completed within 8 weeks (12.5%); 35 were completed of timescales (87.5%). 
 For those that were ongoing at the end of the period, 12 were still within timescales 

(32%) while a further 26 (68%) were already out of timescales. 
 
Of the 73 Adoptive families that were in S2 in the six months (this excludes those that left the 
process during S2 in the period): 

 12 were completed within 16 weeks (32%); 26 were completed of timescales (68%). 
 For those that were ongoing at the end of the period, 27 were still within timescales 

(77%) while a further 8 (23%) were already out of timescales. 
 
Comment 
 
The statistics model used for A1 and A2 performance give only an average performance 
indication based on local and National trends. As such it needs to be used cautiously . 
However, there are 2 main conclusions to consider. 
 
A1 performance is very much affected by Court timetables and the extent to which a case is 
being disputed. The LA and Adoption Agency cannot be in full control of this waiting period 
for children. A2 is when the Local Authority has got the go ahead to progress a plan for 
adoption via a Placement Order. In these cases performance is usually better. 
 
A1 in this period is similar to the last reporting period [37% against 39% in the previous 6 
months]. A2 performance is improved [65% against 57% in the previous 6 months] 
 
The quality assurance process is thorough and CPRs are audited by the relevant Adoption 
Counts Team Manager prior to SHOBPA consideration and then again by either the Team 
Manager, Family Finder or Senior Practitioner before matching panel. This is to ensure that 

Page 47



Page 32 of 35 

CPRs are graded as being ‘Good’ as a minimum and that the final report is submitted to 
panel rather than reports still requiring amendments. 
 
There continues to be a small number of CPRs still requiring some additional work following 
submission as identified by the Panel Advisor and/or Chair. The bulk of these cases have 
had the suggested amendments completed in a timely manner allowing the case to be heard 
as per the schedule. Even these CPRS have told and explained the child’s journey, but 
needed additional work to enable them to be appropriate for the adopters and adoptee to 
have as life time documents. 
 
6. Attendee feedback 
 
Both the social workers and adopters attending Panel are asked the following questions:, 
which are then graded from 1 (Poor) to 5 (Excellent)  
 
Feedback from evaluations 
 
12 evaluations were completed for this half year. 
 

Adopters  Adoption social 
workers  

Children’s social 
workers  

Family Finders  

0 7 0 5 

 

Question  Percentage  Number  Score  

Before attending panel were you 
clear about panel’s function? 

100% 12 5 

Were you given sufficient notice 
about the date and time of 
panel?  

100% 12 5  

Were panels members 
introduced to you?    

92% 
8% 

11 
1 

5 
4 

Did panel members treat you 
with courtesy and respect?    

100% 12 5 

Did panel members seem 
familiar with your case?  

75%  9 5 

25%  3 4  

Were panel member’s questions 
relevant to the issues they were 
considering? 

100%  12 5  

Were you given the opportunity 
to clarify points raised? 

100%  12 5  

Were the recommendations 
made by the Panel Chair clear?  

83%  10 5  

17%  2 4  

Overall gradings 42%   5 5  

33%  4 4  

25%  3 3 

 
Additional comments made were as follows: 
 

Page 48



Page 33 of 35 

The Chair usually reminds prospective adopters that panel provides a recommendation and 
that the ADM will make a decision within 10 days, but forgot to do so on this occasion. 
However, I'm conscious that we were the last item on the agenda, and I reminded the couple 
of this after panel. 
 
I also felt that the couple had a lot of questions to answer, some of which were bordering on 
assessment questions. I'm not sure this would have been as obvious if they had received 
fewer questions, but I thought they got a pretty tough grilling. B also mentioned that she was 
surprised to receive 'two rounds' of questions; a reference to the fact that some panel 
members had two opportunities to ask them questions. 
 
I was surprised to hear that some Panel members were not impressed with adopter's 
presentation. I thought they presented well and answered the questions that were asked of 
them succinctly and with feeling. I understand that other couples had been very animated 
earlier in the day, and panel did make it clear that adopters presentation would not effect 
their recommendation. However, I do not think it is necessary to comment on prospective 
adopters' presentation, particularly not in a negative way, as it has no bearing on the 
recommendation. 
 
Every thing in this case has gone smoothly so far. We were notified a week before about the 
time of panel and panel was on time. Thank you making probably my last panel such positive 
experience 
 
This was my first Adoption Counts panel and it was a positive experience. 
 
I was made to feel at ease, particularly after having a difficult start with my laptop volume. 
 
I felt the PAR had been read fully and considered by each panel member. 
 
Adopter feedback 
 
It is disappointing that we received no evaluations from adopters, and needs further attention 
paid as to whether virtual panels have impacted on this. The plans to move to a hybrid Panel 
system should consider this. Prior to virtual panel, chairs would personally hand the 
evaluation form to the applicants, but it is worth further exploration about how as chairs we 
can encourage feedback in the virtual world, as this is an important part of our learning 
 
Comment 
 
Generally feedback panel received was positive 
 
However, the written feedback does not always corroborate with the scoring. 
 
Feedback from some workers is that panel asks questions that are already covered in the 
paperwork. On occasion this may be to request an update on a report written some time ago. 
However it is a point to be looked at. It may be a particular issue when considering a 
Matching where there are a large number of reports written by several different social; 
workers. 
 
Some questions are posed from a genuine interest in the lives of the adopters and children 
but may not be essential for the purposes of the task of Panel on the day. This can also 
mean that Panels become seen as a quasi-management function. However, Panel are also 
charged with taking an overview of the performance of the Agency. Getting the balance right 
is challenging and should continue to be a focus of Panel Development sessions. 
 

Page 49



Page 34 of 35 

Consideration may be needed in asking the social workers more for clarification; rather than 
the adopters. Bearing in mind that adopters do not have to attend Panel and the guidance is 
clear that no negative conclusions should be made should they choose to not attend 
 
7. Conclusion and Recommendations 
 
This has again been a busy and productive half year for Adoption Counts and for its children 
and families. The Agency has continued to deliver a high standard of service in the face of a 
global pandemic and the strains this has created for administrative and IT connectivity. 
 
There has been some impact such as increased timescales for approvals, but this is down to 
a number of factors outside the agencies control, eg adopters taking breaks, families being 
impacted by Covid, uncertainty in relation to Furlough arrangements etc. However, as “covid 
recovery “continues, so timeliness will improve. 
 
The agency needs to be congratulated on its continuing focus driving up quality to ensure 
that the services it delivers would be “good enough for my child.” 
 
There are number of areas that have been identified that over the next half year will receive 
further attention and work :- 
 
Embedding the learning of the Black lives matters training and implications for the families 
we approve and the children we place, 
 
Ensuring that workers and panel are consistently exploring the lifelong implications of 
adoption, including more reflection on proposed contact arrangements and applicants’ 
openness to direct contact with birth parents. 
 

 Driving forward more consistency in assessment as well as improving the quality 

 Working with the partner agencies to improve both quality and style of CPRs 

 Developing hybrid panels – bearing in mind comments earlier in the report 

 Ensuring that all panel members share in the learning lessons from any disruptions. It 
may also be worth sharing with Panel members details of the learning from introductions 
which do not proceed as planned i.e. not formal disruptions as the child was never 
actually placed 

 Further work with assessing social workers in relation to expectations of panel and to 
learn from them what would support them to improve quality of reports 

 There is difference in timescales for children across the 5 authorities, and it would be 
helpful for Panel to have some understanding of this 

 A more concerted effort to acquire feedback from prospective adopters. This could be 
achieved if a member of staff (not their assessing SW), made contact and gave them the 
opportunity to provide full feedback. 

 
Finally, the current timescales around issuing papers to Panel members and the cutoff date 
for them to raise any concerns might be worth revisiting. The cut off of lunchtime on the day 
before a Panel gives little opportunity to involve presenting social worker with the opportunity 
to add to or amend reports. A consequence of this can be lengthy questions at Panel and an 
increased risk of needed to defer an item. 
 
Martin Sadler 
Independent Panel Chair 

 

 

 

Page 50



Page 35 of 35 

 

 

 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

1 
 

 
 
 
 

                                                                                                          

 

 

INDEPENDENT REVIEWING OFFICERS  

(CARED FOR CHILDREN) 

ANNUAL REPORT 

APRIL 2021- MARCH 2022 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 53 Agenda Item 7



 
 

2 
 

 
 
 
 

CONTENTS 

 
 
 Section 

 
Page 

1 Introduction  3 
 

2 Executive Summary 
 

3 

3 Purpose of Service and the Legal Context  4 
 

4 Profile of IRO Service and Workload 5 
 

5 Review Activity 
5.1 Cared for reviews 
5.2 Pathway plan reviews 
5.3 Participation 
5.4 Attendance 
5.5 Consultation 

 

6 
 

6 Dispute Resolution and Quality Assurance Alerts 
 

9 

7 Progress Against Targets 20/21 
 

10 

8 Future Planning 
 

11 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



 
 

3 
 

1) Introduction 

 

The annual report will present a reflective overview of the activity undertaken in 

Cheshire East in respect of our cared for children and young people. It covers the 

period of April 2021 to March 2022 and provides information about the role and the 

responsibilities of the safeguarding service, specifically the Independent Reviewing 

Officer (IRO). As cited in the IRO Handbook the primary focus ‘is to quality assure 

the care planning and review process for each child and to ensure that his/her 

current wishes and feelings are given full consideration’. 

 

2) Executive Summary 

 

The annual report will provide an overview of the work that has been undertaken in 

Cheshire East in respect of our cared for children and young people from 1 April 

2021 to 31 March 2022, as required by statutory guidance. It will make use of 

information from both a qualitive and quantitative perspective, draw upon the role 

and the responsibilities of the safeguarding service and, in specific, the Independent 

Reviewing Officer (IRO) and how this supports the improvement of outcomes for our 

children.  

 

This year has continued to see elements of virtual working due to the restrictions 

from previous years however there has been a gradual return to face to face cared 

for reviews in line with children and young people’s views.  

 

The safeguarding service has within this financial year maintained a full complement 

of staff with vacancies being covered by agency IROs already in post which has 

enabled stability for our children and young people. We have been successful in 

recruiting from operational teams across children’s services which supports 

professional development alongside retaining knowledge and skills they already 

have of Cheshire East and the children and families we work with.   

 

Despite the many challenges it is evident that the use of the dispute resolution 

process has been effective in identifying good practice and progress of children and 

young people’s plans. The areas that have required strengthening have been 

resolved at an informal stage in 87% of cases, 13% needed to be resolved at a 

formal level. This highlights the positive working relationships that continue to be 

developed between the IROs, social workers and their managers and the shared 

goal of improving the outcomes for young people.     

 

During the previous financial year, we entered a global pandemic that forced the 

service to work differently and enabled us to find different ways to connect with 

children and young people. This report demonstrates the continued development of 

the IRO service over the last year and its role in the journey to work towards face-to-

face reviews. Towards the end of quarter four we began to move towards the re-

introduction of face-to-face reviews in line with our children and young people’s 

wishes. 

Page 55



 
 

4 
 

 

In January 2022 the IRO Service developed guidance around mid-point reviews to 

strengthen the IRO scrutiny and ensure that oversight was both consistent and 

meaningful for the children and young people. This has enabled a collaborative 

approach with social work teams and has received a welcome response in 

supporting the progression of children and young people’s plans. This will continue 

to be a key focus over the next 12 months with the quality of the mid-point reviews 

being strengthened. 

   

This financial year has seen 97% of cared for reviews being held in timescales and 

rearranged reviews showing a decrease from 30% to 25%. Children and young 

people’s participation has remained consistently high at 99% with 60% being in 

attendance.  

 

This year has seen successful activity around pathway plan reviews with 90% being 

held in timescale and only 12% needing to be rearranged. It has also shown that 

97% have attended or shared their views via an advocate.    

 

It is evident that children and young people achieving a plan of permanence at the 

second review has continued to improve showing a 20% increase from 35 to 55%. 

This will continue to be a priority for the Safeguarding Service in supporting the 

operational services to achieve permanence at the earliest opportunity for our 

children and young people. This will be measured by timely reviews to ensure 

traction with planning, and quarterly dip sampling. 

    

Actions highlighted within the previous year’s reporting which have progressed have 

included regular audit activity both inward and outward facing, IROs supporting with 

internal training and the consistent use of interpreters at cared for reviews. There 

has been continued commitment to translate letters that the IROs write to our 

children and young people.  

 

3) Purpose of Service and Legal Context 

 

The appointment by local authorities of an IRO is a statutory requirement. Their 

purpose is to ensure that the care plan for a cared for child fully reflects the child’s 

needs, that each child’s wishes and feelings are given full and due consideration, 

and that the actions set out in the plan are consistent with the local authority’s 

statutory responsibilities towards them.  

 

The Children and Young Person’s Act 2008, followed by revised care planning 

regulations and guidance which came into force in April 2011, strengthened the role 

of the IRO. The statutory duties of the IRO are to [section 25B (1) -1989 Act]:  

 

 monitor the performance by the local authority of their functions in relation to  
the child’s case;  

 participate in any review of the child’s case;  

Page 56



 
 

5 
 

 ensure that any ascertained wishes and feelings of the child concerning the 
case are given due consideration by the appropriate authority; and  

 perform any other function which is prescribed in regulations.  
 
As corporate parents, each local authority, through their officers and members, 

should act for the children they care for as a responsible and conscientious parent 

would act. There are two clear and separate aspects to the function of an IRO:  

 

 chairing the child’s review; and  

 monitoring the child’s case on an ongoing basis.  
 

The IRO Handbook sets out the statutory roles and duties as well as the strategic 

and managerial responsibilities of local authorities in establishing an effective IRO 

service.  

 

The legislative framework regulating services of IROs (Children and Adoption Act 

2002, Children and Young People Act 2008, IRO Handbook 2010 and Care 

Planning, Placement and Case Review Regulations 2010) imposes a specific set of 

statutory duties which all IROs are expected to execute to improve outcomes for 

cared for children. It specifies that IROs should: 

 

 be social work professionals with at least five years post-qualifying frontline 
practice and supervisory/managerial experience; 

 ensure that children’s views are heard, they are aware of their rights and 
entitlements and receive relevant services and support; 

 consult children before reviews to keep their views and input central to the 
whole review process (particularly during the review meeting); 

 maintain overview and promote meaningful consultation with parents, carers 
and others with significant involvement with the child and ensure they are 
involved, and that their views have been considered in relation to the care 
planning and review; 

 monitor the local authority’s management of the child’s case at any time; 

 attend any significant meeting or other type of review for the child; 

 identify and challenge drift, delay and underperformance and make attempts to 
resolve them in a timely manner. 

 

4) Profile of the IRO Service and Workload 

 

The management of the safeguarding service consists of an Assistant Director, Head 

of Service and Service Manager, all of which are permanent positions. In the latter 

end of 2021 and early 2022 there were new appointments to the Head of Service 

and Service Manager posts.  

 

This year the team has seen the service maintain ten cared for IROs along with a 

part-time fostering IRO (FIRO). The Service Manager has direct line management 

responsibility for the IROs. The team is strengthened by its broad diverse 

background aiding the support that is offered to our children and young people. 

Page 57



 
 

6 
 

  

The team are settled and whilst there have been some changes this has been 

effectively managed by two agency IROs already in post. There are currently eight 

permanent IROs with a further two internal candidates recruited which will take the 

service to a full permanent complement of staff of which all have worked within 

Cheshire East for several years. Maintaining this level of stability within the team 

provides a sense of security for our children and young people and ensures minimal 

impact when changes occur.  

  

The current caseload for the IRO service fell in line with the range set out within the 

IRO handbook of 50-70.     

 

5) Current Cared for Population 

 

We currently support 526 cared for children, approximately 79% are white British 

with the remaining 19% from a variety of other ethnic or mixed backgrounds. 

Following on from 2020/2021 there continues to be more boys than girls in our care 

with boys representing approximately 56% of the cared for population with no 

change from the previous year.  

 

 

The age range of our children varies with 0-4 being the predominant age at 41%, 11-

15 at 33% and 6-17 at 26%. IROs also review young people post-18.  

 

5.1    Cared for Reviews 

 

The IRO service has chaired 1145 cared for reviews, this is a decrease from the 

previous year however is felt to be in line with the number of children coming into 

care over the reporting year. Of the cared for reviews undertaken there were 285 

that were rearranged equating to 25%. This is an improvement from the previous 

year where 30% were rearranged.   

 

Page 58



 
 

7 
 

 

There can be multiple reasons for rearrangement, including request by child or carer 

due to other commitments or request by social worker due to the priority of court. 

The percentage of rearranged reviews has reduced by 5%, as a service we continue 

to work with the operational teams to ensure minimal disruption for our children and 

young people and endeavour to prioritise keeping the cared for reviews in 

timescales. Many rearrangements have been found to allow time for social workers 

to complete the care plan to inform the review process.   

 

Reviews Held in Timescale 

 

In this business year 97% of cared for reviews have been held in timescales which is 

an improvement on the 96% the previous year and reflects the hard work, 

commitment and relationships of the IRO and social workers.  

 

5.2    Pathway Plans Review Activity for our Young People 18-21 Years   

 

During this reporting period there were 182 pathway plan reviews that were chaired 

by an IRO of these 90% were reviewed in timescale of which 12% were rearranged. 

This is not the full cohort as it had been agreed in previous years that any young 

people aged 19 and over, that did not wish to have an allocated IRO, would be 

transferred over to the Care Leavers team and a Senior Personal Advisor would 

undertake subsequent reviews. This is an improvement on the previous year where 

23% of pathway plans were rearranged. We achieved a 97% participation rate and 

continue to take the form of attending the meeting or providing their views through an 

advocate. At the time of the reporting period data was not collated where pathway 

plan reviews were completed out of timescale. This is now available and will be 

reported on in future reporting periods.  

 

5.3    Participation  

 

We have seen participation remain high with 2021/22 increasing to 99% of children 

and young people participating in their cared for reviews. Participation can be 

through completion of consultation documents, providing views via an advocate or 

their carers or attending their review meeting in person.  

1145

285
0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

April 2021/March 2022

Reviews that took place / rearranged

Reviews that took place Of which were rearranged

Page 59



 
 

8 
 

“I am too busy”” 

 

“I want a normal 

life” 

 

 

5.4    Attendance  

The IRO service work hard with the operational teams to ensure where possible 

children and young people attend their reviews. This year 60% attended their cared 

for reviews, which is a slight decrease from the 68% last year. There continues to be 

commitment from the safeguarding service to encourage attendance with IROs 

ensuring they consult or visit with the children and young people prior to the review 

with additional consultations being sent as part of the preparation for the reviews.  

 

Given the attendance rates at cared for reviews contact was made with a small 

group of children and young people who were identified as not having attended a 

cared for review. During discussions with the young people, they advised that whilst 

they were given every opportunity to attend it was their choice not to attend with 

them sharing.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The IRO service remains committed to visiting children and young people on 

allocation and prior to their cared for review, this commitment extends outside of 

these times if requested by the children or young people. It is clear on children’s 

records that they are being consulted by visits being undertaken.  

 

Feedback about the service  

 

During the previous reporting period in 20/21 there was feedback provided from the 

Cared for Children’s Survey, providing an overview of their views in relation to cared 

for reviews and the role of the IRO. The next survey was scheduled for May 2022 

with the findings being ready to share in the 22/23 report. The IRO service along with 

the social work teams will examine the results following completion and use this to 

strengthen practice and support the improvement of children and young people’s 

experiences.   

 

5.5    Consultation 

 

As part of the review process IROs are required to consult with the child or young 

person, their parents, their carer’s, and key partner agencies involved in their care 

“I want to be like my 

friends” 

 

“Meetings are 

boring” 

 

Page 60



 
 

9 
 

263

286238

317

Recorded Consultations 
Forms sent out 

Health

Education

FC

Other

100

116

32

56

Recorded Consultation 
Forms Received 

Health

Education

FC

Other

plan. Figures for return of consultation documents remain low and do not necessarily 

represent an accurate picture. For example, whilst foster carers may not always 

complete the consultation form, they attend the review and will report verbally 

instead, attendance for foster carers stands at 70%. There is continued 

developmental work which will capture a more accurate picture of consultations. To 

further strengthen the consultation process we are sending agency leads from 

health, education and fostering monthly updates. A workstream has also been set up 

to strengthen our recording of consultations and provide a more accurate overview 

which will be fed back to Corporate Parenting Operational Group.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2021/2022 data set for consultations 

  

6) Dispute Resolution and Quality Assurance Alerts 

 

 

 

One of the key functions of the statutory role of the IRO is to seek resolution to any 

problem or disagreement arising out of the care planning process. It is a core part of 

their role to scrutinise practice and challenge the local authority to ensure good and 

timely outcomes for children. To do this, IROs must establish good working 

relationships with social workers and their managers to be able to affect a good 

dispute resolution process and with good support of this process by senior 

55 51

99
17

10

17

24 38

19

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022

Quality Assurance Alerts 

Informal Formal Good Practice

Page 61



 
 

10 
 

managers. Alongside this responsibility, IROs in Cheshire East also have a role in 

identifying good practice so learning from what works well for children and young 

people can also be understood and replicated.  

 

The IRO handbook, legislation, and guidance around the planning for cared for 

children requires local authorities to ensure they have a good formal dispute 

resolution in place. Whilst this may look different in each local authority all systems 

must have a 20 day maximum time limit to resolve any disagreement from the 

beginning of the process to its conclusion. In Cheshire East this commences with an 

Informal Quality Assurance Alert being raised by the IRO with resolution at this level 

within five working days with the team manager. If this is not achieved, then the IRO 

will escalate to a formal alert allowing a further ten days to reach resolution with a 

senior manager. If there were still no agreement after 15 days, then the IRO may 

escalate concern to CAFCASS.  

           

What is working well What are we worried about Future focus  

There is evidence of there being 
an increase of quality assurance 
alerts from 89 to 119 which 
indicates improved oversight 
from the IRO Service. This is 
broken down as follows:  
99 informal alerts  
17 formal alerts  
19 good practice alerts  
 
There is regular communication 
at service manager level to 
ensure timely responses and 
appropriate resolutions. The 
introduction of mid-point reviews 
will support more regular 
oversight and the ability for the 
safeguarding service to support 
the progression of children’s 
plans and timely outcomes.  

There has been a decrease in 
good practice alerts down to 
16% compared with 36% in 
20/21. 
 
There has been an increase in 
formal alerts with these 
representing 14% of the alerts 
for 21/22.  

In the main these are related to 
drift in the children and young 
people’s planning, young people 
placed in unregulated 
placements, difficulties around 
family time and IROs raising 
challenge in respect of legal 
status.    

Good practice needs to be 
identified at every opportunity to 
ensure learning can be taken at 
replicated for our children and 
their families. 
 
The IRO service needs to 
ensure they continue to offer a 
consistent approach to the 
dispute resolution process to 
ensure progression of children’s 
plans and timely outcomes.   
 
Service managers to meet 
regularly to discuss themes from 
the quality assurance alerts and 
aid future learning across all 
service areas. 

   

7) Progress against targets 20/21 

 

Actions  Progress  
 

1.To provide choice in how we consult 
with children 

Internal peer audits around children and 
young people’s consultation have been 
taking place and a dip sample in June. 
  
IROs have ensured interpreters are 
present at reviews where needed and 

Page 62



 
 

11 
 

use language line facilities when 
consulting. letters to children continue to 
be translated.  

2.To use Internal peer audits to 
continuously scrutinise and improve our 
practice 

Internal peer audits between the IROs 
have continued with there being a clear 
framework moving forward.   

3. Focus on challenge of drift and delay 
in discharge of care order cases where 
children can safely be in the care of the 
parents 

In the main IROs have held timely cared 
for reviews to support regular oversight 
of children’s plans. Whilst there has been 
some progression with Discharge of 
Care Orders the courts have focused on 
urgent applications which has caused 
drift and delay.  

4. Focus on permanency being achieved 
at the second review.  

There has been some improvement over 
the past year, but delays have continued 
due to extended proceedings and a 
situation where more C2 applications 
have been made than at any other time. 

5. Child-led outcomes incorporated in 
every review (working in partnership) 

All reviews now offer children and young 
people the opportunity to develop their 
outcomes and record their own 
recommendations.  

6. We will ensure timely fostering 
reviews that ensure foster carers meet 
fostering standards and are well 
supported 

Annual reviews have been taking place 
however work is continuing in developing 
a workstream to strengthen performance 
reporting in this area.    

   

8) Future Planning  

 

The IROs will feel sufficiently 
skilled/trained to execute their roles and 
responsibilities. 

Review of the training offer to include 
IROs with additional focus on CSE/MFH 
and analysis.     

Plans of permanence  This remains a key performance 
indicator for 22/23 with the safeguarding 
service continuing to track and support 
children achieving permanence at the 
earliest opportunity. Quarterly dip 
samples will take place and findings 
shared with operational teams around:  
Mid-point reviews 
Children subject to S20/Placement 
Orders/Care Orders. 

Strengthen FIRO role to ensure timely 
fostering reviews  

Develop a pathway on ICS to support 
accurate reporting data.  
 
Dip samples to take place by service 
managers to ensure the quality of the 
reviews and support learning and service 
development.  
 

Page 63



 
 

12 
 

Children and young people will receive 
timely letters following their cared for 
reviews.  

Monthly reporting will take place to 
support timeliness and ensure this 
practice standard is embedded.  

 
Key:  

IRO- Independent Reviewing Officer- 

CSE-Child Sexual Exploitation  

MFH-Missing from Home  

ICS-Integrated Children’s System’s  

Page 64



 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

Corporate Parenting Committee 
 
Date of Meeting: 

 
10 January 2023 

 
Report Title: 

 
Corporate Parenting Q2 score card 2022/23 

 
Report of: 

 
Deborah Woodcock, Executive Director of Children’s 
Services 
 

 
Report Reference No: 

 
 

 
Ward(s) Affected: 
 

 
All Wards 

 

1. Purpose of Report 

1.1. This report sets out the performance for corporate parenting for quarter 2 of 

2022-23 (1 July 2022 – 30 September 2022).  The Corporate Parenting 

Committee is asked to note the performance for quarter 2 and to provide 

support and challenge in relation to performance in relation to cared for 

children and care leavers. 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 This report provides an overview of quarter 2 performance for children and 

families services for the relevant indicators for the reporting year of 2022-23   

3. Recommendations 

3.1.     The Corporate Parenting Committee is asked to: 

3.2 note the performance of children’s services for quarter 2. 

 

3.3 provide scrutiny in relation to performance in relation to cared for children 

and care leavers. 

 

 

 

Page 65 Agenda Item 8



 

OFFICIAL 

 

4. Reasons for Recommendations 

4.1. One of the key areas of focus for the Corporate Parenting Committee is to 

review performance and scrutinise the effectiveness of services for cared 

for children and young people and care leavers. 

5. Other Options Considered 

5.1. Not applicable 

 

6. Background 

6.1. This quarterly report provides the committee with an overview of 

performance across cared for children and care leaver’s service. This report 

relates to quarter 2 of 2022-23 (1 July 2022 – 30 September 2022).  

6.2. The following indicators have been highlighted for consideration 

7. Briefing information 

 

7.1 Cheshire East Council were responsible for 540 cared for children at the 

end of quarter 2.  The cared for children population changes daily as 

children enter and leave care. Children cease to be cared for due to several 

reasons, these include turning 18, returning to their birth family, adoption, 

and special guardianship. The latest comparable data we have across the 

region shows that Cheshire East’s rate is slightly above the national 

average of 67 per 10,000 and is above that of our statistical neighbours. 

Comparator data relates to 21/22 and so is not an up-to-date reflection of 

the national or statistical neighbour data.  

 

7.2 We have seen an increase in the number of children entering care from 132 

in 2020/21 to 160 in 2021/22.  Much of this increase relates to 

unaccompanied asylum-seeking children (UASC) becoming cared for. We 

have seen an increase in young people who have been placed in hotels by 

the Home Office, who subsequently challenge their age and are then 

accommodated if they are assessed as being under 18. We are constantly 

monitoring the numbers of cared for children and looking at ways to ensure 

that we are reviewing plans for children to achieve permanence at the 

earliest opportunity. Positively, the number of children where care orders 

have been discharged is increasing; so far this year (21 September 2022) 

we have discharged care orders for 17 children and there are several 

applications currently before the court so we are hopeful that this number 

will increase. Overall last year, we achieved 17 discharges of care orders 

and 7 the year before. The progress we are making represents a positive 

picture.  

 

Page 66



 

OFFICIAL 

7.3 However, whilst positive we are ambitious to increase this rate and we are 

not making as much progress as we would like with discharging Care 

Orders.  This is primarily due to staff shortages across the service and the 

need to prioritise our statutory work. We have recently commissioned a 

managed service that includes 6 social workers and a team manager. It is 

anticipated that this will bring some stability to the service for at least 6 

months.  At the time of writing this report, the cared for service has 12.5 

permanent social work vacancies out of an establishment of 24. The 

managed service has improved capacity on a short-term basis and will 

ensure that we are able to meet statutory obligations. Work is being 

undertaken with HR colleagues to consider how we retain our existing 

workforce and how we recruit experienced social workers. 

 

7.4 The timeliness of cared for children’s reviews continues to be good and in 

Q2, this was at 93%. Additionally, 95% of children were involved in their 

reviews. It is important that children and young people are involved in their 

plan, and we are always looking at how we can develop and improve their 

participation.  

 

7.5 Q2 data shows an increase in children placed with in-house foster carers 

(130 in Q2 compared to 123 in Q1). This is positive and there are plans in 

place to increase recruitment of foster carers, which will mean that we can 

place more of our children with Cheshire East foster carers. Generally, we 

want children to remain local and within Cheshire East where possible. For 

some children, they may live out of the area because they need a specialist 

placement, or they want to be close to birth family who have moved away. 

Arrangements for any child who lives at a distance are reviewed on a 

regular basis to ensure this remains appropriate.   

 

7.6 We continue to work hard to reduce the number of children in residential 

care and this number does fluctuate due to the availability of foster 

placements and the needs of our children and young people. In Q1, the 

number of children living in residential care was 36, positively within Q2 we 

have seen a reduction to 32.  We remain committed to ensuring that 

children have the opportunity of living within a family wherever possible. 

Currently we have 6% of our cared for children living in residential care, the 

national average is 10%.  

 

7.7 The number of adoptions continues to slowly increase with 9 children 

adopted so far this year and another 13 living in their adoption placements. 

Of the 9 children legally adopted so far this year, unfortunately the number 

of days from entering care to moving into placement with an adoptive family 

is skewed by a small number of children where there has been delay. For 

example, one was 1,207 days, which will have impacted our average 

number of days for the 9 adoptions to date. Locally and nationally the 

timescales for placing children within their adoptive families is monitored to 

Page 67



 

OFFICIAL 

avoid unnecessary delay for children. Pre-pandemic Cheshire East were in 

a strong position in relation to timeliness, above the regional and national 

average. However, this has been significantly impacted because of the 

complexities involved in facilitating transitions and the impact of Covid-19. 

For those children where delay was experienced, their individual 

circumstances are well understood, and we continue to scrutinise planning 

to ensure that children do not experience unnecessary delay.  

 

7.8 Placement stability for cared for children needs to improve. We know that 

due to a shortage of foster placements, some children experience several 

moves. A new head of service for Provider Services commences 

employment in January 2023. It is anticipated that she will be able to 

provide some additional oversight of placement stability and that we can 

track children’s placement moves more effectively to reduce unnecessary 

moves.  

 

 

7.9 The number of 16 to 18-year-old young people who are not in education, 

employment or training (NEET) is low. We have a dedicated 16 plus 

advisor within the virtual school, and this reflects the proactive work to keep 

our young people in education or support them into employment and 

training.  

 

7.10 The NEET data for our 19 to 21-year-old young people shows that 46% of 

this cohort are not engaged in education, employment, or training. The 

national average for 2020/21 was 38% with statistical neighbours being 

37%. Comparative data for 22/23 is not available. We are looking closely at 

this data and the circumstances for these young adults which include 

pregnancy, parenting or illness, but are not exclusive to this.  

 

 

7.11 The next NEET programme is currently underway and is being well 

attended. This is a good way of engaging our young people and it is 

successful as a pathway to get young people involved in a range of 

activities and into education, employment, or training. Previous NEET 

programmes have seen real successes for our young people.  

 

7.12 Whilst most health assessments are being requested within 48 hours of 

children entering care (66% in Q2) there has been a decline from 71% in 

Q1. This is likely to be an impact of significant staff shortages, particularly 

social workers across all service areas.  This data will be discussed with 

health colleagues to see what is causing delay so we can truly understand 

the full picture and manage this to ensure that the timeliness of health 

assessments for children improves.  

 

Page 68



 

OFFICIAL 

7.13 Q2 data shows an increase in children seeing a dentist to 44% from 37% in 

Q1. We are working to try and look at how we capture this data as we 

believe these figures are not a true representation. One of the things we 

are doing is adding in a mandatory question within the Statutory review 

process so that we have a better and more accurate picture of this 

information.  

 

7.14 Q2 data shows that 95% of our care leavers are in appropriate 

accommodation. This is not 100% because we have a small number of 

young people who are in prison, and this is never recorded as being 

appropriate. This is currently less than five and as such the number is 

supressed in line with DfE guidelines. Nationally the latest available data 

reported 95% of care leavers in suitable accommodation with 3% being in 

custody; the other main reasons for accommodation being classed as 

unsuitable is emergency accommodation or homelessness.  

 

 

7.15 80% of care leavers have up-to-date pathway plans and % of care leavers 

had their plans reviewed within timescales. We are aware that there are 

issues in respect of pathway plans being reviewed and we are changing the 

way in which pathway plans are reviewed. This work will now transfer to the 

safeguarding service to ensure that our care leavers have their pathway 

plans reviewed in a timelier way and to allow for external scrutiny.  

 

 

8. Consultation and Engagement 

8.1. Not applicable. 

9. Implications 

10. Legal 

 

10.1. There are no direct legal implications. 

11.  Finance 

 

11.1 There are no direct financial implications or changes to the MTFS because 

of this briefing paper.  

 

11.2 Policy 

 

12.1 There are no direct policy implications. 

 

12. Equality 

 

Page 69



 

OFFICIAL 

13.1 Members may want to use the information from the performance indicators 

to ensure that services are targeted at more vulnerable children and young 

people. 

 

13. Human Resources 

 

14.1 There are no direct human resources implications. 

 

14. Risk Management 

 

15.1 There are risks associated with some performance measures, e.g. increases 

in demand and timeliness of services. 

 

15. Rural Communities 

 

16.1 There are no direct implications for rural communities. 

 

16. Children and Young People/Cared for Children 

 

17.1 Performance reports enable members to identify areas of good performance 

and areas for improvement in relation to children and young people, 

including cared for children. 

 

17. Public Health 

 

18.1 There are no direct implications for public health. 

 

18. Climate Change 

 

19.1 This report does not impact on climate change. 

 

Access to Information 
 

Contact Officer: Annemarie Parker 
 

Appendices: Corporate Parenting Score Card Q2 

Background Papers: None 

  

 

Page 70



Priority Indicator Indicator name

21/22 

outturn Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 Q1 22/23 Q2 22/23

22/23    

outturn

Benchmark 

National 

(most recent 

available)

Benchmark 

Stat N'bour 

(most recent 

available)

Corporate 

Plan Aim Acronym Notes

G1 Number of cared for children 522 528 522 522 540 Fair

G2 Rate per 10,000 cared for children 67 68 67 67 69 67 60 Fair 2021/22 comparitors updated

G3 Number of care leavers (aged 16-21) 243 248 279 292 Fair

1.1

% cared for children reviews in timescales

90% 96% 90% 94% 93% Fair

1.2

% of children and young people involved in their reviews

99% 97% 99% 95% 95% Fair

2.1

Number of 16-18 year olds in care that are NEET 

(monthly) 7 8 7 14 Fair

NEET - Not in Education, 

Employment or Training

NEET - Not in Education, Employment or 

Training

2.2

Number of 16-18 year old care leavers that are NEET
5 9 13 0 Fair

NEET - Not in Education, 

Employment or Training

NEET - Not in Education, Employment or 

Training

2.3

Number of care leavers accessing higher education 

(University) 16 18 19 20 Fair

2.4

Number of Cheshire East care leavers in apprenticeships 

(18+) 7 7 8 6 Fair

2.5

% 19-21 year care leavers that are NEET (as per national 

reporting)

40% NEET at 

birthday 46% 41% 46% 46%

38% NEET at 

birthday

37% NEET at 

birthday Fair

NEET - Not in Education, 

Employment or Training.   

2021/22 comparitors updated.  

Whereas the quarterly collection is the yp 

status at the end of the qtr, The DfE 

comparitor figures relate the each yp 

status around the time of their birthday 

during the collection year.

2.6

Speak to Laura Rogerson re PEP and virtual school 

suitable indicators Fair

PEP - Personal Education 

Plan

3.1 Number of cared for children in external foster care 132 135 138 130 Fair

3.2
Number of cared for children in internal foster care

121 120 123 130 Fair

3.3

Number of children in care living with relatives and 

friends (inc reg 24) 82 79 79 99 Fair
Reg 24 -Regulation 24

3.4
Number of children placed with parents 

58 53 60 54 Fair

3.5
Number of children and young people in residential care

31 31 36 32 Fair

3.6

Reduction of children in residential care (quarter 

calculation based on above) N/A N/A

Increase of 

5

Reduction 

of 4 Fair

3.7

% of commissioned residential care provision occupied 

(currently 6 beds) 67% 50% 67% 50% Fair

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 1

 -
 W

e 
w

ill
 c

ar
e 

fo
r 

o
u

r 
C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 Y

o
u

n
g 

P
eo

p
le

 a
s 

an
y 

go
o

d
 p

ar
en

t 

w
o

u
ld

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 2

 -
 Im

p
ro

ve
d

 E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
, E

m
p

lo
ym

en
t 

an
d

 

Tr
ai

n
in

g 
o

u
tc

o
m

es
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 3
 -

 W
e 

w
ill

 w
o

rk
 t

o
 g

iv
e 

al
l c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 y

o
u

n
g 

p
eo

p
le

 a
 f

o
re

ve
r 

h
o

m
e 

an
d

 k
ee

p
 t

h
em

 s
af

e
September 2022 - Corporate Parenting Scorecard  - This contains a rolling 4 quarters for comparison

Notes: The boxes that are grayed out are where national data is not applicable or data isn't available.

Notes: Rates are calculated using the 2020 ONS mid year population estimate 0-17 of 78,068 (Office of National Statistics) and are calculated as a rate per 10,000 children aged 0-17. This enables the local authority to be compared on a like for like basis with different local 

authorities or groups of authorities. 

Notes: The column highlighted in blue reflects the most recent quarter being reported on 

G
en

er
al

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE

P
age 71



Priority Indicator Indicator name

21/22 

outturn Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 Q1 22/23 Q2 22/23

22/23    

outturn

Benchmark 

National 

(most recent 

available)

Benchmark 

Stat N'bour 

(most recent 

available)

Corporate 

Plan Aim Acronym Notes

G
en

er
al

3.8

Number of individuals with 3 or more placements 

(rolling 12mth figure)

61 64 66 Fair

2021/22 Comparitors (PERCENTAGE of 

Cared For Childrenwith 3 or more 

placements in the year):   CE 12%,  

Statistical Neighbours 10%,  All England 

10% . 

3.9

% cared for children in care for at least 2.5yrs at the end 

of the period and living in their current placement for at 

least 2 years
69% 70% 67% 65% 71% 72% Fair

2021/22 comparitors updated.

Uses NI63  specification: Children Aged 

under 16, and where a child is placed for 

adoption, do not count the move to 

adoptive placement.

3.10

Number of cared for children placed over 20 miles from 

home address (Cheshire East and out of borough) 126 123 122 121 Fair

3.11 Number of children living out of borough 206 206 214 207 Fair

3.12

Number of cared for children who have been missing in 

the quarter 39 33 35 44 Fair

3.13

Number of children who have a long term matched 

placement 131 132 133 123 Fair

3.14
Number of placement moves in the quarter

88 (72 

individuals)

67 (55 

individuals)

63 (48 

individuals)

105 (82 

individuals) Fair

3.15

% of currently cared for children who have had a C&F 

assessment in the last 12 mths 84% 79% Fair
C&F - Children and Family

3.16

% of  Cared for Children in care for more that 1 mth who 

have had a review in the last 6 mths 98% 91% Fair

3.17

% of children ceased to be looked after due to granting 

of special guardianship order (SGO) - year to date figure
11% 11% 11% 8% 6% 13% 12% Fair

SGO - Special 

Guardianship Order
2021/22 comparitors updated

3.18

% of children ceased to be looked after due to adoption - 

year to date figure 9% 9% 9% 11% 8% 10% 11% Fair
2021/22 comparitors updated

3.19 Number of children with an adoption decision 29 25 33 34 Fair

3.20

Average number of days between entering care and 

moving in with adoptive family (A10 national indicator) - 

yearly figure 574 611 589 613 376 Fair

3.21

Average number of days between placement order and 

match with adoptive family  (A2 national indicator) - 

yearly figure 230 212 219 240 185 Fair

4.1

% of initial health assessments requested within 48 

hours of coming into care 81% 84% 71% 66% Fair

4.2

% of initial health assessments completed by 

paediatricians within 20 working days 78% 69% 68% 53% Fair

4.3

Children looked after who had their annual health 

assessment (%)
80% (OC2 

cohort) 76% 74% 80% 75%

89% (OC2 

cohort)

86% (OC2 

cohort) Fair

2021/22 Comparitors updated.

The published comparitors from the DfE 

SSDA903 return uses the 'OC2 cohort' of 

children i.e. Children who have been in 

care at least 1 year at 31st March.

4.4

Children looked after who had their teeth checked by a 

dentist in the last 12 months (%)
51% (OC2 

cohort) 45% 42% 37% 44%

70% (OC2 

cohort)

65% (OC2 

cohort) Fair

2021/22 Comparitors updated.

The published comparitors from the DfE 

SSDA903 return uses the 'OC2 cohort' of 

children i.e. Children who have been in 

care at least 1 year at 31st March.

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 3

 -
 W

e 
w

ill
 w

o
rk

 t
o

 g
iv

e 
al

l c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g 
p

eo
p

le
 a

 f
o

re
ve

r 
h

o
m

e 
an

d
 k

ee
p

 t
h

em
 s

af
e

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 4

 -
 W

e 
w

ill
 Im

p
ro

ve
 H

ea
lt

h
 a

n
d

 W
el

lb
ei

n
g 

O
u

tc
o

m
es

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE

P
age 72



Priority Indicator Indicator name

21/22 

outturn Q3 21/22 Q4 21/22 Q1 22/23 Q2 22/23

22/23    

outturn

Benchmark 

National 

(most recent 

available)

Benchmark 

Stat N'bour 

(most recent 

available)

Corporate 

Plan Aim Acronym Notes

G
en

er
al

4.5

% of 4-16 in care for 3 months or more with a 

completed SDQ score in the last 12 mths

57% (OC2 

cohort) 46% 40% 45% 42%

77% (OC2 

cohort)

75% (OC2 

cohort) Fair

SDQ - Strenghts and 

Difficulties Questionnaire.  

T

2021/22 Comparitors updated.

The published comparitors from the DfE 

SSDA903 return uses the 'OC2 cohort' of 

children i.e. Children who have been in 

care at least 1 year at 31st March.

4.6

% of young people with a SDQ score of 20 or above

36% (OC2 

cohort) 26% 30% 29% 31%

37% (OC2 

cohort)

40% (OC2 

cohort) Fair

SDQ - Strenghts and 

Difficulties Questionnaire.  

2021/22 Comparitors updated.

The published comparitors from the DfE 

SSDA903 return uses the 'OC2 cohort' of 

children i.e. Children who have been in 

care at least 1 year at 31st March.

4.7
Number of care leavers with a health passport 14/14 100% 12/15    80% 14/14 100% 12/16  75%

Fair

5.1

% of care leavers aged 16-21 with an up to date 

pathway plan in the last 6 mths 81% 80% Fair

5.2

% of pathway plan reviews completed in timescales in 

the quarter 53% 92% Fair

5.3

% of pathway plan reviews completed in the quarter 

where Young persons view were not sent/ gained 38% 6% Fair

5.4

% of former relevant care leaver aged 18-21 that we are 

in touch with 98% 99% Fair

5.5

% of 16-17 years old currently cared for with a PA 

allocated 53% 46% Fair
PA - Personal Advisor

5.6

% of 17-18  former relevant care leavers in suitable 

accommodation
95% at yp 

birthday 89% 92%

90% at yp 

birthday

88% at yp 

birthday Fair

2021/22 comparitors updated.  

Whereas the quarterly collection is the yp 

status at the end of the qtr, The DfE 

comparitor figures relate the each yp 

status around the time of their birthday 

during the collection year.

5.7

% of 19-21 former relevant care leavers in suitable 

accommodation 

97% at yp 

birthday 97% 89% 96% 95%

88% at yp 

birthday

88% at yp 

birthday Fair

2021/22 comparitors updated.  

Whereas the quarterly collection is the yp 

status at the end of the qtr, The DfE 

comparitor figures relate the each yp 

status around the time of their birthday 

during the collection year.

5.8
Number current UASC being cared for 

21 6 21 24 34 Fair

UASC - Unaccompanied 

Asylum Seeker

5.9
Number current/ former UASC care leavers (aged 18-24)

55 58 Fair

UASC - Unaccompanied 

Asylum Seeker

5.10 Number of individuals in staying put arrangement 31 38 38 31 Fair

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 4

 -
 W

e 
w

ill
 Im

p
ro

ve
 H

ea
lt

h
 a

n
d

 W
el

lb
ei

n
g 

O
u

tc
o

m
es

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 5

 -
 W

e 
w

ill
 p

re
p

ar
e 

yo
u

n
g 

p
eo

p
le

 f
o

r 
A

d
u

lt
h

o
o

d

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE

P
age 73



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous meeting
	5 Corporate Parenting Committee Name Change
	6 Adoption Counts -  Adoption Service Annual Report and Adoption Panel Chairs Six-monthly Report
	Appendix - Adoption Counts

	7 Independent Reviewing Officers Annual Report 2021-22
	8 Corporate Parenting Q2 Scorecard 2022/23
	Appendix Q2 Scorecard


